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Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan
AGM and Member Consultation
Le Bistro | 3850 Hillsdale Street, Regina SK

Agenda
9:30 a.m. Registration

9:45 a.m. Welcome

9:50 a.m. Blessing with Kokum Brenda Dubois 

10:00 a.m. Blanket Exercise with Michael Cardinal and Brenda Dubois

11:50 a.m. Break 

12:00 p.m. Lunch with member announcements  
  
1:00 p.m. Member Consultation (with 2019-23 Strategic Plan)

2:30 p.m. Break

2:45 p.m. Annual General Meeting

   1.0  Call to Order 
   2.0 Approval of Agenda
   3.0 Appointment of Scrutineers
   4.0 Minutes of Past Meeting – June 23, 2018
   5.0 MCoS Annual Report -  President’s Report
   6.0 Treasurer’s Report
    6.1  Presentation of Audited 2018-19 Financial Statements 
    6.2  Appointment of Auditors for 2019-20
   8.0 Elections
   9.0 Other Business
   11.0 Adjournment

4:30 p.m. Conclusion

2019 AGM and 
Member Consultation

Cover Photo Credit
Multi-Faith Saskatchewan - Saskatchewan Visual Arts Project - MCoS Strategic Initiative (SI)

Sofonias Daniel of Holy Cross High School, Saskatoon | Titled: Unity in Diversity (First Place Award)

Statement: We are all individual part of God’s big family. One human race with different colours. 
We don’t need to become the same to be united, because we can attain our unity in our diversity. 
We just need to embrace, accept, appreciate and share our uniqueness. 
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In my first year as president, I am honoured to be part 
of MCoS, an organization that strives to build welcoming 
and inclusive communities for all. This past year, MCoS 
made great strides towards accomplishing our strategic 
directions and I am pleased to provide highlights.

The first Strategic Direction, the capacity of MCoS 
is strengthened, focuses on ensuring the financial 
sustainability of MCoS, and optimizing and enhancing 
the capacity of MCoS. Our relationship with SaskCulture 
continues to be strong and our core funding received a 
small increase. We are grateful for augmented funding 
from the Department of Canadian Heritage to amplify our 
“Racism: Recognize it. Reject it!” capacity. I offer thanks 
to the MCoS members and stakeholders who contributed 
to the creation of a positioning statement for MCoS. My 
special thanks to Lucky Idedia for volunteering his time for 
this initiative. Through stakeholder input and facilitation 
by Lorna Knudson, Joe Garcea and Giustino Garcea, board 
and staff have articulated a focused  
2019-23 strategic plan. 

The second Strategic Direction, the capacity of the 
multicultural community is strengthened, focuses on 
enhancing support to members, strengthening leadership 
capacity, and fostering multicultural values in the 
multicultural community. MCoS was able to offer more 
support to the regional multicultural councils this year to 
carry out programming that supports MCoS Ends. Members 
and others appreciated the learning offered in governance 
and succession planning sessions with Dawn Martin in 
Regina and Saskatoon. MCoS is seeing the multicultural 
community share on a deeper level and in innovative ways. 
 
The third Strategic Direction, Governments and institutions 
are demonstrating a commitment to supporting cultural 
diversity, inclusion and new immigrants through their 
actions, policies and programs that reflect multicultural 
values. My fellow board members and I enjoy networking 
opportunities with decision-makers at MCoS and member 
events. I commend the information that our Education 

Coordinator and trained facilitators are sharing and the 
conversations they are inspiring in many settings. We see 
growing commitment in proclamations for Saskatchewan 
Multicultural Week and interest in the Welcoming and 
Inclusive Communities Toolkit, with SUMA endorsement. 

The fourth Strategic Direction, multicultural values are 
widely reflected in the community, focuses on facilitating 
public forums, implementing an advocacy strategy, 
promoting multicultural values to young people, and 
supporting welcoming and inclusive communities. It feels 
important that MCoS is increasing its advocacy and public 
education capacity at a time when racism is more overtly 
expressed. Our focus for advocacy is building relationships 
and empowering champions. We far exceeded the target 
to hold one public forum with eight across the province. 

The fifth Strategic Direction, recognition and 
appreciation for the historical and current contributions 
of Saskatchewan’s Indigenous people, including 
relationship to the land, are foundations for a respectful 
and harmonious shared future, focuses on enhancing 
opportunities to engage in meaningful intercultural 
connections. The BRIDGES program builds on mutual 
understanding and a shared stake in shaping the future 
and is now active in five communities. Youth leadership 
workshops include improved learnings about colonialism  
as well as Indigenous cultural teachings. MCoS  
underscores the importance of intercultural 
communications and listening to Indigenous perspectives 
on policy and practice.

My board colleagues made invaluable contributions and  
are committed and passionate about MCoS values and 
Ends. I want to thank Icasiana De Gala for her  
involvement on the board this year. I extend my gratitude 
and recognition to our Executive Director who, along with 
her staff, delivers meaningful programming, and secures 
new sources of funding to impact communities.
 
MCoS is appreciative of the strong and consistent support 
we receive annually from SaskCulture, the Ministry of 
Parks, Culture and Sport, Ministry of Education, the 
Department of Canadian Heritage, and other funders. 
MCoS and all our stakeholders work together and share 
multicultural values every day to bring Saskatchewan and 
MCoS’ motto to life: From Many Peoples Strength.

President’s 
Message

Neeraj Saroj, President
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It is an honour to work for an organization that focuses 
on valuing diversity and addressing discrimination. We are 
beginning to consider what decolonization means  
for MCoS and the multicultural community. MCoS is  
working to balance capacity with opportunities, and to 
measure impact.  
  
MCoS members have always had a focus on both cultural 
continuity and celebration of diversity. While these  
remain priorities, we see that a greater focus on  
engaging youth in traditions in ways that are meaningful 
across generations. MCoS encourages ethnocultural groups 
to share their cultures beyond the surface and we are 
seeing innovations in performances and at festivals, such 
as Taste of Culture and Tapestrama, which encourage 
deeper sharing, contradiction of stereotypes, and 
intercultural connections. 
 
Racism is being exposed at the individual and systemic 
levels, so the importance of Anti-Racism work was at 
the forefront for MCoS and many of our members and 
partners. With increased funding, MCoS expanded the 
March 21 campaign to include a coordinator for the 
community forums and youth leadership workshops in 
five locations across the province, in addition to public 
education and engagement. We hosted the Saskatchewan 
community consultation to provide input for the federal 
anti-racism strategy. MCoS collaborated to present Let’s 
Talk: Navigating Safe Discussions on Racism, the African 
Canadian Resource Network’s anti-oppression project, 
and vigils to declare support for faith communities. We 
supported Common Weal’s Respond to Racism, Rock Against 
Racism, and more. Organizations and individuals are 
stepping up to the challenge to address racism. 
 
The key to breaking down barriers, solving problems and 
planning for the future together is to build relationships. 
BRIDGES is the primary MCoS program to bring intercultural 
connections to communities. BRIDGES has been a provincial 
partnership with AFCS and SAISIA since 2014 and will now 
be operated solely by MCoS. BRIDGES is active in Regina, 
Saskatoon, Yorkton, Prince Albert, and the Battlefords. The 
Allocations Committee funded more project applications to 
build relationships across cultures. 
 
Integration is achieved when all members of a community 
are reflected, are seen and see themselves as belonging, 
are valued for their contributions, and can appropriately 
access services. The Welcoming and Inclusive Communities 
project created resources and capacity that continue 
to support respect and engagement. MCoS worked with 
SaskCulture and Heather Ritenburg to pilot renewed 

INVOLVE training curriculum, organizational readiness 
and mentorship in Moose Jaw. These will enable greater 
benefits from diversity in volunteer leadership. Through 
our education work, more government, institutions, 
businesses and community organizations understand the 
advantages of diversity for innovation. Integration  
remains a key strategy for a shared and harmonious  
future in Saskatchewan. 
 
MCoS supports important work in the community through 
programming, advocacy, and funding. I am thankful to the 
dedicated volunteers on the Allocations and Multicultural 
Education Initiatives Committees. The work carried out by 
our members was richer and deeper, representing all five 
streams of multicultural work and is important to Ends 
achievement. MCoS has strengthened relationships with 
funders, partners and members based on common values 
and goals. I am grateful for the ongoing support from 
SaskCulture, Saskatchewan Lotteries, the Department of 
Canadian Heritage, Affinity Credit Union, the Ministry of 
Parks, Culture and Sport, the Ministry of Education, and 
the South Saskatchewan Community Foundation.  
 
MCoS is fortunate to be led by a diverse and experienced 
board whose governance and strategic leadership ensures 
our success. MCoS has a small team that produces 
incredibly high quality and quantity work; I appreciatively 
commend Titilayo Omolola, Justin Waldrop, Yordanos 
Tesfamariam, Christine van der Merwe, Thuy Truong, 
Malathi Sadagopalan, and Anna Bajpai, as well as the 
work placements through Regina Immigrant Women 
Centre. I recognize the contributions of all the trained 
facilitators across the province. I am proud to be part of  
an organization that aims to build respectful, equitable, 
and lasting connections as the foundation for a welcoming 
and inclusive province.

Executive Director’s 
Message

Rhonda Rosenberg, Executive Director
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The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) has been raising awareness of the benefits of 
cultural diversity and the dangers of racism since November 22, 1975. In 2015, MCoS celebrated 
40 years of making multiculturalism matter. The Council was created to represent six regional 
multicultural councils and joined by a variety of multicultural, ethnocultural and educational 
groups. 

MCoS currently represents 61 member organizations (plus 18 individuals and 3 business/
institution/government), which include thousands of volunteers committed to promoting the 
benefits of multiculturalism. MCoS also worked with 57 partners this past year on a variety of 
projects and events. MCoS became a provincial not-for-profit, non-governmental agency that 
works to ensure ethnocultural survival, strength and prominence and foster opportunities for 
cross-cultural interaction.

We support our members and the public with promotional campaigns and materials (including 
Multifaith Calendars), a monthly electronic newsletter, investment in programs that accomplish 
our goals, information and community connections, workshops and other learning opportunities. 
We maintain an involvement with SaskCulture that has included establishing the Multicultural 
Initiatives Fund and serving as the Secretariat for the Multicultural Community of Interest.

About the Multicultural 
Council of Saskatchewan

We are leaders in the promotion of multicultural values by:  
• Advocating for the advancement of multiculturalism at the state and 

societal levels 
• Supporting members and schools with financial and non-financial 

resources.  
• Partnering with governmental and non-governmental organizations. 
• Coordinating provincial multicultural initiatives for use at the 

provincial, regional, and local levels.

Our Vision

Our Mission

Multiculturalism is central to the cultural, economic, social and political 
life of Saskatchewan.
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• November 22, 1975 - Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) founded in Regina. 
• We are particularly proud to have been part of the creation of the provincial motto: From Many 

Peoples Strength (Multis e Gentibus Vires), a powerful statement about who we are – past, present, 
and future. 

• Member of the Saskatchewan Committee for the Elimination of Racism in Sport and Recreation. 
• Development, management and distribution of Multicultural Education Initiatives (MEI) to schools to 

encourage understanding and interest in multiculturalism. 
• 1987-2008: Member funding for operations and projects, supporting various groups, and projects  

in Saskatchewan focused on multiculturalism, understanding, integration, and the elimination  
of racism. 

• 2009 onward: strategic investment in member and partner projects that advance our mission, aims 
and objectives. 

• Promoting multicultural events, campaigns, and projects around the province to members and the 
general public. 

• Youth conferences and workshops on the subject of anti-racism and multiculturalism, including 
Youth Action Now with Ukrainian Canadian Congress-Saskatchewan Provincial Council (UCC-SPC) and 
current Arrêt/Stop Racism workshops. 

• Organizing seven national conferences held in Saskatchewan on multicultural matters. 
• Promoting our cultural heritages across the country during Saskatchewan’s Centennial year. 
• We Are SK PSA project is a partnership between seven organizations – Aboriginal Friendship Centres 

of Saskatchewan (AFCS), Conseil Culturel Fransaskois (CCF), MCoS, Saskatchewan Film Pool (SFP), 
Saskatchewan German Council (SGC), Saskatchewan Organization for Heritage Languages (SOHL), 
and UCC-SPC with support from the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. This project features six 
PSAs with the following themes: Culture is a Two-Way Street; From Many Peoples Strength; Cold 
Land, Warm Hearts; Look Beyond the Surface; Home and Overcoming Discrimination. The PSAs have 
been available through broadcast, website (www.WeAreSk.ca), and on social media. 

• Multicultural Forum in honour of the 40th anniversary of the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism Act in 
partnership with the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. 

• Multicultural Honours event hosted by The Honourable Vaughn Solomon Schofield, Lieutenant 
Governor of Saskatchewan that recognizes significant contributions to the multicultural community. 
Betty Szuchewycz and Youth Leadership Awards are presented annually. 

• Building Relationships Interculturally through Dialogue and Growing Engagement in Saskatchewan 
(BRIDGES) with the Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan (AFCS) and Saskatchewan 
Association of Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies (SAISIA). Work has included research  
and consultations, a pilot project in Prince Albert, and a series of Indigenous Welcome events for 
Syrian refugees, Youth BRIDGES in Regina, and organizational networking in Saskatoon. 

• Integrating Newcomers with Volunteer Opportunities to add Leadership Value through Education 
(INVOLVE) is a partnership with SAISIA, SaskCulture and Regina Open Door Society (RODS). A very 
successful pilot was run in Regina in 2015 and another in Weyburn in 2017. Facilitator training took 
place in April 2017 making it available in numerous communities. Youth INVOLVE launched as a pilot 
project in 2018 as a partnership with North Central Family Centre and RODS with 47 participants.   

• Integration Forum with SAISIA and SaskCulture in October 2015. 
• Welcoming and Inclusive Communities (WIC) project in 2016-18. Activities include the Welcome 

Home Pledge (over 300 taken), facilitator training  (over 40 trained) and WIC Toolkit endorsed by 
SUMA and adopted by over 20 communities so far. 

• Hosted the Saskatchewan consultation to provide input for the federal anti-racism strategy. Engaged 
the community: members, leaders, experts, academics, and those with lived experience. 

MCoS has Served as a Leader

(www.WeAreSK.ca
http://www.WeAreSk.ca
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Members, Partners, and Funders

Non-Profit 
Organizations
1. Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan (AFCS)*
2. African-Canadian Resource Network Saskatchewan Inc. 

(ACRN)*
3. Albert Park Community Association
4. Ambassadors for Christ Ministries Inc.
5. Association of United Ukrainians Canadians (Regina 

branch) (AUUC)
6. Bangladeshi Community Association of Saskatoon
7. Battlefords Immigration Resource Centre (BIRC)*
8. Canadian Roots Exchange
9. Cathedral Area Co-op Daycare
10. Common Weal Community Arts*
11. Communauté des Africains Francophones de 

Saskatchewan (CAFS)
12. Cultural Connections Regina
13. Daughter of Africa Inc.
14. Dorintosh School Community Council
15. Doukhobor Cultural Society of Sask
16. Equatorian Southern Sudanese Community Association 

in Saskatoon Inc. (ESSCA)
17. Federation des Francophones de Saskatoon
18. Ghanaian–Canadian Association of Saskatchewan 

(GCAS) – Regina
19. Girl Guides of Canada – Saskatchewan Council
20. Great Plains College
21. Heritage Festival of Saskatoon
22. Heritage Saskatchewan Alliance Inc.*
23. India-Canada Cultural Association
24. Indo-Can Seniors Inc.
25. Karen Community of Regina Incorporated
26. Moose Jaw Multicultural Council Inc. (MJMC)*
27. Multifaith Saskatchewan
28. Ness Creek Cultural & Recreational Society Inc.
29. Philippines-Canada King & Queen Pageant Corp

30. Philippine Association of Saskatchewan Regina Corp.
31. Philippine Entrepreneur Society of Saskatchewan Inc.
32. Prince Albert Multicultural Council (PAMC)*
33. Regina Chinese Canadian Association
34. Regina Immigrant Women Centre (RIWC)*
35. Regina Japanese Canadian Club
36. Regina Jazz Society Inc.
37. Regina Multicultural Council (RMC)*
38. Regina Open Door Society Inc. (RODS)*
39. Regina Public Interest Research Group (RPIRG)
40. River City School of Irish Dance Inc.
41. Saskatchewan African Fashion
42. Saskatchewan Archaeological Society (SAS)
43. Saskatchewan Caribbean-Canadian Association (SCCA)
44. Saskatchewan Intercultural Association (SIA)*
45. Saskatchewan Library Association (SLA)
46. Saskatchewan Somali Refugee Sponsorship Association 

(SSRSA)
47. Saskatoon Folkfest Inc.
48. Saskatoon Open Door Society (SODS)
49. Shakespeare on the Saskatchewan Festival Inc.
50. Southeast Advocates for Employment / Southeast 

Newcomer Services
51. Southern Saskatchewan Summer Solstice Festival 

d’été
52. Southwest Multicultural Association (SWMA)*
53. Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre*
54. Spring Free From Racism/ Saskatchewan Association of 

Human Rights (SFFR)
55. Strasbourg Recreation Board
56. TESL Saskatchewan
57. The Humboldt Regional Newcomer Centre (HRNC)
58. Uganda Canadian Association of Saskatchewan (UCAS)
59. Yorkton Film Festival
60. YWCA Prince Albert*
61. Zambia Empowerment Community in Canada 

 

MCoS defines our “owners” as those who value multiculturalism. 
We actively support the multicultural community with resources, 
education, networking opportunities and partnerships. 

MCoS members are able to access financial support through funding 
programs and sponsorships. We value the contributions members and 
partners make in Saskatchewan.

SUPPORT

COLLABORATE

CONNECT
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Individuals
1. Mary Chipanshi
2. Ranjan Datta
3. Muna De Ciman
4. Marie Galophe
5. Deb Kamanashis 
6. Bruno Kossmann
7. Bob Lesperance
8. Joefe Lucmayon
9. Meka Okochi
10. Faith Olanipekun
11. Cosanna Preston-Idedia
12. Asit Sarkar
13. Jackie Sarner
14. Neeraj Saroj
15. Terri Sleeva
16. Darlene Stakiw
17. Kam Teo
18. Marianne Tirol
19. Julio Torres-Recinos

Business/Institution/
Government
1. City of Lloydminster
2. City of Yorkton*
3. SupportMeEnglish 

Partners and Funders
4. Affinity Credit Union
5. Amnesty International
6. Bert Fox Community High School 
7. Carlton Trail Regional College
8. Chinook School Division
9. City of Regina
10. City of Saskatoon
11. Common Ground Consulting
12. Conseil Culturel Fransaskois (CCF)
13. Dance Saskatchewan
14. Department of Canadian Heritage
15. Department of Public Safety and Emergency 

Preparedness
16. Dr. Heather Ritenburg
17. East Central Newcomer Welcome Centre
18. Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC)
19. Indian and Métis Friendship Centre of Prince Albert
20. Kikinahk Friendship Centre
21. Lakeland District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
22. Lieutenant Governor’s Office
23. MacKenzie Art Gallery
24. Ministry of Education 
25. Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport

26. New Dance Horizons
27. Newo-Yotina Friendship Centre
28. North Central Family Centre
29. Northern District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
30. Parkland Valley District for Sport, Culture and 
31. Recreation
32. Prairie Central District for Sport, Culture and 

Recreation
33. Rainbow Youth Centre
34. Regina Farmers’ Market
35. Regina Public Library
36. Regina Summer Stage
37. Regina Symphony Orchestra
38. Rivers West District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
39. Sakewew High School
40. Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement 

and Integration Agencies
41. Saskatchewan Council for International Cooperation 

(SCIC)
42. Saskatchewan German Council (SGC)
43. Saskatchewan Government and General Employees’ 

Union (SGEU)
44. Saskatchewan Human Rights Commission
45. Saskatchewan Indian Institute of Technologies (SIIT)
46. Saskatchewan Lotteries
47. Saskatchewan Orchestral Association (SOA)
48. Saskatchewan Organization for Heritage Languages 

(SOHL)
49. Saskatchewan Settlement Workers in Schools (SSWIS)
50. Saskatchewan Urban Municipalities Association (SUMA)
51. Saskatchewan Writers’ Guild (SWG)
52. Saskatoon Anti-Racism Network (SARN)
53. Saskatoon Indian and Métis Friendship Centre
54. SaskCulture
55. Speaker of the Legislative Assembly of Saskatchewan 
56. Southeast District for Sport, Culture and Recreation 
57. Southwest District for Sport, Culture and Recreation
58. SK TEAL
59. Street Culture Kidz
60. Swift Current Comprehensive High School
61. Tonight it’s Poetry
62. Ukrainian Canadian Congress - Saskatchewan 

Provincial Council (UCC-SPC)
63. University of Regina (U of R) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
* Also a partner
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MCoS Board of Directors

Back row (left to right)

Asit Sarkar (Past-President)
Icasiana De Gala (Director)
Marie Galophe (Director)
Ranjan Datta (Director)
Muna De Ciman (Director)
Annette McGovern (Director) 
Julio Torres-Recinos (Director)

Front row (left to right)

Bob Lesperance (Treasurer)
Neeraj Saroj (President)
Meka Okochi (Vice-President)
Cosanna Preston-Idedia (Secretary)

MCoS is governed by an elected Board of Directors. The diverse 
knowledge and expertise the directors bring to their work on vision 
and policy is matched by their devotion. These volunteers serve 
as cultural ambassadors in all areas of the province to connect 
with stakeholders and provide direction for MCoS to advance 
multiculturalism and demonstrate the provincial motto: From Many 
Peoples Strength.

The current directors were elected in June 2017 or June 2018. 

LINKAGE

GOVERNANCE

LEADERSHIP
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MCoS Staff

Executive 
Director

Rhonda Rosenberg

Communications and 
Marketing Coordinator

Justin Waldrop

Education and BRIDGES 
Coordinator

Yordanos Tesfamariam

Anti-Racism 
Coordinator
Anna Bajpai

Administrative 
Assistant (Interim)

 Malathi Sadagopalan

Executive 
Assistant

Titilayo Omolola

Education and BRIDGES 
Coordinator (Interim)

Christine van der Merwe

Administrative 
Assistant (Interim)
 Chloe Thuy Truong

MCoS is operated by an Executive Director and three full-time staff. 
Each staff member brings unique knowledge and skills to exceed in 
their responsibilities. These individuals form a dynamic team that is 
able to accomplish the direction set by the board.

Whenever possible, we hire project staff and enjoy the mutual 
benefits of work placements.

COMMUNITY

DEDICATION

EXPERTISE

MCoS ED, Rhonda Rosenberg, was honoured as one of the 2019 SCIC Global Citizen Award recipients. 
She was recognized for her extensive community-building work the past 20 years focused on anti-racism work, 

the five streams of multicultural work and capacity building in the multicultural community.
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Multicultural  Values
Multicultural values are rooted in the provincial motto From Many Peoples Strength and the treaty 

relationships that define our province. All MCoS work is guided by these values, which are expressed as:

We recognize the multicultural 
diversity of the people of 

Saskatchewan. We believe in the 
strength of supporting cultural 
continuity and pride in one’s 

cultural ancestries. We celebrate 
the sharing between cultures 

because culture is a two way street. 

Respect for Diversity

We recognize the negative impact 
of racism and discrimination. We 
promote the importance of all 

people in overcoming these issues 
to achieve equitable outcomes for 

all Saskatchewan residents.

Recognition and 
Rejection of Racism

We actively support and encourage 
efforts to bring communities 

together in ways that will build 
relationships based on 

understanding and respect to 
foster capacity for problem 

solving and planning.

Intercultural 
Connections

We support welcoming and 
inclusive communities that create 
a sense of home and belonging. 
We recognize the creativity and 

innovation that arise from bringing 
different cultural perspectives 

together and cultivating the unique 
contributions of all.

Integration

VISION
Multiculturalism is central 
to the cultural, economic, 
social, and political life of 

Saskatchewan.
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Streams of Multicultural Work

                           Cultural Continuity empowers ethnocultural
                         organizations, individuals and communities to retain,
                  maintain and evolve distinctive cultural practices and 
             traditions in the Canadian context. Supported through
       investments in Strategic Initiatives and showcased at events such
as Multicultural Celebration at the MacKenzie Art Gallery.

                                      Celebration of Diversity includes education 
                         and festivals that showcase differences and similarities,
                  most often through performance, cuisine and other arts. 
             It includes an awareness that groups that welcome many 
      perspectives, especially from different cultural world views, lead to 
greater creativity and innovation. Sponsorship of major events, such as Mosaic, 
Folkfest, Motif, as well as some Strategic Initiative and many Multicultural 
Education Initiative investments.

                           Anti-Racism work looks at issues of power and
                         privilege and how they impact individual and systemic
                  discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to
             build equity and justice in our institutions and communities. 
       MCoS coordinates an annual March 21 campaign, facilitates Arrêt/
Stop Racism Youth Leadership Workshops and invests in member and school 
activities that recognize and reject racism and discrimination.

                           Intercultural Connections entails different
                         cultural groups coming together over time to build
                  bridges i.e. exchanges, pen pals, cooperative work, creating
             safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc. Investments
      through Intercultural Connections are good examples, as is the BRIDGES 
project in partnership with Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan 
(AFCS) and Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant Settlement and Integration 
Agencies (SAISIA).

                          Integration, in contrast to assimilation, is  
                         achieved when all members of a community are reflected,  
                  are seen and see themselves as belonging for all aspects of their 
              identities, are valued for their contributions, and are able to 
       appropriately access services. The WIC Toolkit provides excellent 
resources, and INVOLVE offers training for new volunteer leaders 
and organizations. 

Integration

Anti-Racism

Celebration 
of Diversity 

Cultural 
Continuity

Intercultural 
Connections
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Investments & Funding 2018-19

Strategic Initiatives 
40% of total

Regional Multicultural 
Councils (RMCs) 
6% of total

March 21 Events 
9% of total

Multicultural Education 
Initiatives (MEIs) 

27% of total

Sponsorships 
18% of total

Strategic Initiatives
62% of total

Regional Multicultural 
Councils (RMCs) 
10% of total

March 21 Events 
5% of total

Multicultural Education 
Initiatives (MEIs) 
8% of total

Sponsorships 
15% of total

FUNDING AND GRANT PROGRAMS 
Total # Funded = 88

FUNDING AND GRANT PROGRAMS 
Total $ Funded = $113,650

16

5

35

8

24

$70,000

$6,300
$17,100

$9,250

$11,000
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March 21 Programming, including 
Arrêt/Stop Racism youth leadership 
workshops and public forums

Saskatchewan Multicultural Week

Other, including Celebrate Canada, 
African-Canadian/Black History 
Month and Asian Heritage Month

BRIDGES (Building Relationships 
through Intercultural Dialogue and 
Growing Engagement in Saskatchewan) 
and INVOLVE (Integrating New 
Volunteers with Opportunities to add 
Leadership Value through Education)

Celebrate Canada - Multiculturalism 
Day, National Highway to Harmonious 
Canada (Multi-Faith SK), Righting 
Relations, International Women’s Day, 
Living Heritage Symposium

$12,113.50
42% of total

$17,058.83
58% of total

PROJECTS AND PARTNERSHIPS
Total $ Funded = $29,172.33

$10,320.12
12% of total

$17,084.00
20% of total

$59,359.77
68% of total

PROVINCIAL PUBLIC EDUCATION CAMPAIGNS 
Total $ Funded = $86,763.89
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MCoS Strategic Directions & 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #1: The capacity of MCoS is strengthened. 

1.1. Ensure the financial 
sustainability  
of MCoS 

i. SaskCulture AGF allocation 2018-19 is 2% more than 2017-18.  
ii. The Department of Canadian Heritage is making more funding available in more 

types of programs. Remarkable increase in the event grant for anti-racism. 
Education revenue is increasing.  

iii. Total self-generated revenues from calendar sales, memberships, education, 
sponsorships, and partnership contributions is $47,023, allowing us to enhance 
programming and build a reserve fund, now at over $60,000. 

 

 

1.2. Optimize and enhance 
the capacity of MCoS 

 

i. The board completed the initial task of establishing definitions and measures: 
1. Sufficient financial resources to reach our Ends. This is achieved and can be 

measured through Objective 1.1. MCoS continues to require more 
communications, education, and administrative support. 

2. The Board has the knowledge, skills and information to define and support 
the Ends. The board participated in Lifecycles, risk management, Indigenous 
consultation, and strategic planning workshops.  

3. Staff have knowledge, skills and support to achieve the Ends. Staff are 
involved with workshops on Indigenization and decolonization, professional 
organizations, webinars, MCoS workshops, networking events, etc. This 
includes free and fee opportunities. 

4. MCoS is able to support the membership to work towards Ends achievement. 
This is achieved by sharing information (newsletter, website, social media, 
and in-person meetings), education and training (e.g. sessions in Regina and 
Saskatoon on governance and succession planning), advice and support, 
funding, connections, and campaigns with resources and tools for action for 
participation. Survey responses highlighted that stakeholders appreciate the 
connections and resources for action MCoS offers.  

 

 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #2: The capacity of the multicultural community is strengthened.  

2.1. Enhance support to 
members with a focus 
on Regional Councils 

 

i. MCoS supported six projects from five regional councils with $11,000 from the 
Regional Multicultural Councils fund; three sponsorships for $5,500, and 
Folkfest for $2,500. There was strong uptake of both Saskatchewan 
Multicultural Week and March 21 activities and campaigns. We have increased 
communications and meetings. 

 

2.2. Strengthen the 
capacity to develop, 
recruit and retain 
leaders who have the 
knowledge and skills 
to foster 
organizational 
strength and stability. 

 

i. Regina, Weyburn, Yorkton, Moose Jaw and Youth INVOLVE in Regina. INVOLVE 
facilitator training through WIC of 26 people throughout the province in 2017. 
Worked with SaskCulture and Heather Ritenburg to pilot renewed training 
curriculum, organizational readiness and mentorship in Moose Jaw. 

ii. Governance and succession planning sessions with Dawn Martin took place in 
Regina and Saskatoon. 

2.3. Nurture a deeper 
understanding, 
acceptance and 
demonstration of 
multicultural values in 
the multicultural 
community 

 

i. All activities funded by MCoS foster multicultural values in the community; 
those working at a deeper level receive higher funding. Submissions indicate 
greater emphasis on deeper cultural sharing in the first two streams and 
increasingly strong requests for intercultural connections and anti-racism. 
Strategic Initiatives: 41 requests for $106,025; 35 granted $70,000. Regional 
Multicultural Councils: 5 requests for $13,000; 5 granted $11,000. Multicultural 
Education Initiatives (MEI): 26 requests for $9,750; 24 granted $9,250. 
Sponsorships: 25 requests for $48,100; 16 granted $17,100. March 21 funding 
allowed for MCoS to support 8 local Racism: Recognize it. Reject it! activities 
for $6,500. 
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2018-19 Accomplishments

 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #3:  Governments and institutions are demonstrating a commitment  
to supporting cultural diversity, inclusion and new immigrants through their actions, policies  
and programs. 
3.1    Provide governments 

and institutions with 
tools to create inclusive 
workplaces, policies and 
services that reflect 
multicultural values. 

i. Availability of Welcoming and Inclusive Communities toolkits with SUMA 
endorsement. Joint advocacy with partners. Advocacy on the importance of 
intercultural communications and listening to Indigenous perspectives on 
policy and practice. Ten proclamations for Saskatchewan Multicultural Week. 
Enhanced funding from Canadian Heritage has increased our Racism: 
Recognize it. Reject it! advocacy capacity. Member events have provided 
opportunities to network with municipal, provincial and federal politicians. 

ii. Increasing requests for Modules 1-5 presentations, including from institutions 
and government branches. Targeted campaign materials. 
 

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #4: Multicultural values are widely reflected in the community. 
4.1. Facilitate public forums 

to discuss and advance 
multicultural values 

i. Need to talk about racism. Let’s Talk in Saskatoon and livestreamed with 
partners, community forums on racism in La Ronge, Swift Current, Regina, 
Battlefords, and Yorkton. Sponsored Rock Against Racism in Saskatoon and a 
community conversation with Métis Elders and artists following the Regina 
Symphony Orchestra’s premiere of The Heart of the North. Hosted Canadian 
Heritage community engagement for anti-racism strategy. 
 

4.2. Implement the Advocacy 
and Public Education 
Strategy 

i. Achieved through campaigns, facilitated sessions, BRIDGES, Righting 
Relations, and outreach to build relationships and offer learning 
opportunities. Active communications: newsletter, website, and social media 
to raise awareness of our programs and the issues they address.  

ii. Recognized the benefits of multiculturalism and contributions of the 
community with the multicultural superhero campaign. Added to those who 
have challenged racism are highlighted in the Racism: Recognize it. Reject it! 
campaign. Promoted and distributed WIC tool kit with ways to recognize the 
benefits of multiculturalism and contributions of the community. 
 

4.3. Promote multicultural 
values to young people, 
including those born to 
immigrant parents, 
newcomers, Indigenous 
and established 
Canadians, to encourage 
belonging 

i. Education and BRIDGES Coordinator is in place as a permanent position. 
Arrêt/Stop Racism youth leadership workshops took place in La Ronge, Swift 
Current, Regina, Battlefords, and Yorkton/Fort Qu’Appelle. Racism: 
Recognize it. Reject it! activity kit is appealing to schools. MEI funding 
reaches young people across the province. Youth BRIDGES connects youth 
who are often marginalized in Regina and supports them to develop skills and 
ways to share perspectives; they engaged in Common Weal programming.  

4.4. Support welcoming and 
inclusive communities 

i. Continued to promote and distribute the Welcoming and Inclusive 
Communities pledge and toolkit. Supporting organizations to integrate the 
contributions of cultures and community members through INVOLVE and 
projects, such as Heart of the North.  

STRATEGIC DIRECTION #5: Recognition and appreciation for the historical and current 
contributions of Saskatchewan’s Indigenous people, including relationships to the land, are 
foundations for a respectful and harmonious shared future. 
5.1. Enhance opportunities 

to engage in meaningful 
intercultural 
connections and 
relations that build on 
mutual understanding 
and a shared stake in 
shaping the future. 

i. BRIDGES active in Regina, Saskatoon, Yorkton, and Prince Albert with part-
time coordinators. Battlefords partners energized to start from community 
forum on racism. Working with the OTC. Education session at AGM. Funded 
several member projects in this area. Supported 13 Strategic Initiatives, 2 
Sponsorships, and at least 8 MEI projects.   

ii. Fully integrated and revised new content and activities, developed by an 
Indigenous consultant, in the Arrêt/Stop Racism workshops to understand 
Indigenous cultures, acknowledge colonial history, the legacies of residential 
schools and commit to TRC Calls to Action. INVOLVE curriculum increased 
Indigenous perspectives and content. 
 



18 MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN

Programs and Services 

Empowers ethnocultural organizations, individuals and communities to retain, maintain and 
evolve distinctive cultural practices and traditions in the Canadian context.

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan invests in its members and the multicultural 
community of Saskatchewan through its programs and services:  A) Multicultural Education 
Initiatives, B) Strategic Initiatives, C) Regional Multicultural Councils, D) Sponsorships, and 
E) MCoS Initiatives & Partnerships.  

We present highlights of our programs and services organized by the five streams of 
multicultural work: 1) Cultural Continuity, 2) Celebration of Diversity, 3) Anti-Racism, 
4) Intercultural Connections, and 5) Integration.  We also present highlights that involve all 
five streams.

1. Cultural Continuity 

Canahari Multidisciplinary 
Summer Program Helps 
Youth Embrace Culture 
Strategic Initiative (SI) 
 
Saskatchewan has seen an increase in its newcomer 
populations, yet programs and services (school curricula, 
summer camps, and sports activities) geared towards 
children are mostly centered on a western model that 
does not reflect the rich culture and heritage of many 
children. The goal of Canahari Summer School (CASS) is to 

advance multiculturalism in Saskatchewan by supporting 
and encouraging children and youth in Saskatchewan to 
share, learn, appreciate, respect, and accept cultural 
diversity. Through the Canahari Multidisciplinary 
Summer Program (CMSP), CASS is able to fill in these 
gaps to ensure that children from minority cultures are 
represented and feel represented. CMSP provides an 
avenue for culturally diverse children to come together to 
share intercultural communication, learn from each other, 
and grow together, ensuring cultural continuity. 
 
The participants have fun exploring different types of 
knowledge. Guest speakers teach the children different 
African games and songs. Participants learn about Treaties 
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and their place in society. They also learn to work as a 
team. One participant reveals, “I like to come to camp 
because I get to play and learn with my friends.” Another 
participant explains: “I am happy to be here because I can 

be myself and wear my traditional clothes and not feel 
awkward about it.” 

The impact of the summer camp is enormous. It makes 
great impact in the African community especially. Parents 
are very satisfied and stress the need for a gathering like 
this that promotes African arts and culture as well as a 
gathering for multicultural and meaningful conversations. 
One parent exclaims, “I am most impressed by how 
much cultural content is covered in class. My son can 
actually count in his mother tongue!” Children are also 
able to learn languages other than English. The camps 
engaged 19 children in July and 22 in August. The staff is 
estimating 40 children in 2019. “We are also partnering 
with ACTUA and First Nations University of Canada for the 
2019 program to offer Engineering and Science (STEM) 
programs,” states Founder/CEO Juliet Bushi. 

“My love for children and belief in a strong early 
childhood development inspired me to start up this 
initiative,” explains Bushi. She points out that there 
are gaps in programs and services as well as in equal 
representation in all sectors, which are not being 
addressed in the community. “Through CMSP, I am able to 
identify and address educational problems and find well-
considered practical solutions that are also 
culturally appropriate.”

Bridging Intergenerational 
and Cultural Gaps for Youth 
and Seniors 
Strategic Initiative (SI) 
 
The bridging intergenerational and cultural gaps for 
youth and seniors project helps foster culture and 
provides opportunities for older and younger generations 
to interact and learn from one another. The Bhutanese–
Nepali Community of Regina commits to promoting its 
cultures through member and community participation, 
and by fostering multicultural communities in the City of 

Regina. The main goal of this project is to facilitate the 
integration process through social activities and ongoing 
sessions for members of all ages.  
 
This project provided opportunities for youth to engage 
with seniors in the Bhutanese–Nepal community to 
learn and share experiences and values each other. The 
project engaged the younger generation through music, 
cultural events, and social activities, which helps them 
to understand traditional social and cultural values and 
practices of the older generation, ensuring cultural 
continuity. One participant confirms, “As a youth, I have 
learnt lots of traditional values and knowledge from the 
seniors of our community.” 

Through [the Canahari Multidisciplinary 
Summer Program] CMSP,  I am able 
to identify and address educational 
problems and find well-considered 
practical solutions that are also  

culturally appropriate.

~ Juliet Bushi ~
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“The majority of participants indicate that they were 
very happy to engage with and learn from all age groups, 
which also contributed toward bridging the gap between 
cultures and isolation,” explains Dhaka Tiwari, Bhutanese-

Nepali Community of Regina. 

Workshops and cultural activities created positive impact 
with youth to respect older generations. Organizers 
invited other community organizations to the events 
and workshops creating intercultural connections where 
everyone had opportunities to share their values, culture, 
and art. As a result, this project facilitated development 
of respect and acceptance for other cultures. Many youth, 
adults, children, and senior members of the community 
were engaged and indicate that this kind of project helps 
to continue the Bhutanese–Nepali culture and values for 
future generations. 
 
“Seniors who participated in the different activities of 
this project indicate they feel valued within and outside 
of the community,” says Tiwari. “They had opportunities 
to engage with the younger generation and pass their 
knowledge to our young people.” 

The majority of participants indicate 
that they were very happy to engage 
with and learn from all age groups, 

which also contributed toward bridging 
the gap between cultures and isolation.

~ Dhaka Tiwari ~ 
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Somali Community Pop-up 
Museum and Arts Festival 
Shares Cultural Heritages
Strategic Initiative (SI) 

How can organizations provide a platform for sharing 
historical and cultural values? The Somali Community Pop-
up Museum and Arts Festival is an initiative designed to 
attract historical and cultural collections that individuals 
and families have in their safekeeping to share with the 
public. The Prairie Somali Canadian Community Centre 
(PSCCC) held three events focused on cultural continuity 
that featured Somali traditional food, dance, music, 
storytelling, exhibits of Somali historical artifacts, and a 
Somali hut in the park. Communities involved in the Pop-
up Museum include Prairie Somali Canadian Community 
Inc., The Saskatchewan Congolese Network Inc., Acholi 
Community Association of Saskatchewan Inc., Uganda 
Canadian Association of Saskatchewan Inc. (UCAS), 
and Communauté des Africains Francophones de la 
Saskatchewan Inc. (CAFS). 

The pop up museum promotes positive intercultural 
relations through cross-cultural communication, contact, 
and understanding. It also recognizes the special 
contributions that refugees and immigrants bring into 
the province, and assists in the process of integration 
and education. “The Somali Pop-up Museum creates an 
open-dialogue and healthy relationship between the 
Somali immigrants and other Saskatchewan communities,” 
explains PSCCC President Abdi Gure. “It promotes mutual 
dialogue, cooperation, and understanding among the 
diverse communities.”  

An Arts Festival featuring food and music highlighting a 
multicultural community representation was also part of 
the event. The Somali community had a rare opportunity 
to share a fusion of different cultures in music, traditional 
food, and historical artifacts with a multicultural 
audience supporting integration and cohesion. “This event 
promotes relationships between well-established Somali 
Canadians in the province, and newly-arrived immigrants 
and their families as they share in their rich heritage,” 
observes Gure. 
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2. Celebration of Diversity 
Includes education and festivals showcasing differences and similarities,  through performance, 
cuisine and other arts. It provides an awareness that groups that welcome many perspectives,
especially from different cultural world views,  lead to greater creativity and innovation.

Prairie Prism 
Connects Communities 
Strategic Initiative (SI) 

When it comes to events that engage and facilitate 
connections between newcomers, diverse ethnocultural 
groups, and the broader community, Prairie Prism 
is a great example. Steered by a multi-organization 
committee coordinated by Family Service Saskatoon, 
Prairie Prism took place in September 2018 at the 
Confederation Mall in Saskatoon and saw 2500 people 
walk through the doors and participate. This event was 
the fourth of its kind in the past six years to coincide 
with Culture Days. The organizing committee members, 
volunteers, artisans, performers and organizations from 20 
countries shared their talents, skills and heritage with the 
community enriching our city and enhancing awareness 
of cultural diversity. Their contributions engage linkages 
between newcomers and other Saskatoon communities, 
and help to build leadership, capacity, and strong 
connections with one another to create a welcoming and 
inclusive community. 

The event introduces Saskatoon newcomers and long-time 
residents to diverse ethnocultural communities. Attendees 
were impressed and expressed their appreciation of the 
event, the authentic performances, and the diversity of 
the participants. The cultural demonstrations, information 

booths, interactive displays, and storytelling section 
generated strong interest. The participatory activities 
were inclusive with many artistic activities and lessons 
in cultural and educational settings. This enabled the 
event to increase participation of community members in 
various cultural activities. 

“People from many walks of life came together to learn 
about and experience other cultures through food, dance, 
art, stories, and play,” observes Alicia Buckley, Project 
Coordinator for CultureNet Saskatoon. “This event broke 
barriers - from financial to location to age to education 
to sexuality to class to language to racism - where people 
enjoyed one another’s company.” 

PRAIRIE PRISM 
2018 IMPACT

  
• 2500 attendees 
• 14 sponsors  
• 20 partners  
• 2 official addresses  
• 11 artisans  
• 10 cultural performances  
• 14 information booths  
• 3 storytellers 
• 65 volunteers  
• 20 countries represented

People from many walks of life came 
together to learn about and experience 
other cultures... This event broke barriers 

- from financial to location to age to 
education to sexuality to class to 

language to racism - where people 
enjoyed one another’s company. 

~ Alicia Buckley ~ 



23ANNUAL REPORT 2018 - 2019



24 MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN

Peacock Collegiate Cultural 
Fair Highlights School’s 
Diversity
Multicultural Education Initiative (MEI) 

The Cultural Fair is a tradition Peacock Collegiate intends 
to continue in years to come. Peacock’s Multicultural 
Youth Leadership Group, with assistance from the 
Social Studies 30 class, successfully hosted their second 
Cultural Fair in November 2018. Students represented 12 
countries with traditional clothing, cultural information, 
and food samples. Over 600 attendees were welcomed 
with passports and encouraged to visit all 16 booths with 
information about various cultures.  

There was food and performances of traditional dances 
and songs, with participation from the general student 
body. With the growing diversity within Peacock's 
populace, the students who presented felt seen and 
respected. “It's good, you share your culture with others, 
and it’s not just about culture - it’s about ideas too,” 
observes one student. Students who may have had less 
exposure to cultural diversity were able to experience 

food and see performances from different cultures 
and were able to ask questions in a curious and 
respectful manner. 

Additional activities included a cultural information 
scavenger hunt, trivia contest, button making, ancestry 
survey, and recipe book giveaway. On stage, students 
greeted audience members in 14 languages followed by 
numerous dancing and singing performances representing 
a wide variety of cultures. Students invited audience 
members on stage to learn to greet others in multiple 
languages and several staff members joined the 
performers in a celebratory dance. An excited student 
shares, “The food was amazing and I learned so much 
about many cultures. Also, it was really cool to see all of 
the cultures that are in our school.”  

The Cultural Fair had strong support by Peacock 
students and staff, community members, and Moose 
Jaw Multicultural Staff with over 1,300 food samples 
purchased. It was a very positive experience for everyone 
involved providing a celebration of diversity and an 
opportunity to share and connect. “It’s events like this 
that make me feel part of the Peacock family,” remarks 
a student. “I think it was a great way to get to know our 
classmate’s backgrounds.”
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Beats and Eats 
Inspires Artistry in 
Newcomer Youth
Strategic Initiative (SI) 
 
The event Beats and Eats celebrates the youths’ efforts 
after participating in the Saskatoon Open Door Society’s 
Youth Empowerment Workshops program. Created to 
inspire newcomer youth to expand on their artistic skills, 
build new friendships and connect to the community they 
live in, this program also helps youth share their own 
culture and learn about Canadian culture in a safe and 
welcoming space. 
 
The Beats and Eats event is a culmination and celebration 
of newcomer youths’ artistic contributions to their 
community. The main goal of Beats and Eats is to 
celebrate their artistic accomplishments by providing 
a community platform, where the youth can share and 
connect with the larger community through their artistic 
talents. This event celebrated the efforts of 22 newcomer 
youth in their programs. Through this event, youth have 
the opportunity to express themselves and share their 
stories using diverse art mediums. Through music, dance 
and art in many forms, the event provided an all-inclusive 
feeling for 180 community members who attended in 
order to support these youth. 
 
“Not only did this event give youth an outlet to highlight 
who they are and their creative efforts; this event also 

gave the community an opportunity to embrace their new 
members through cultural exposure,” states Ian Shaw, 
Youth Program Team Lead. “Newcomers often face a 
variety of barriers in their transition to new communities 
and this celebration is a successful step toward providing 
them with a feeling of belonging.”  
 
As for participants, all the youth had a great time 
performing for the audience. Saugat Magar, a youth 
performer describes the experience: “I like to create 
new beats and be creative. This program lets me make 
real beats on my phone and perform my music in front of 
many people. I hope I can buy some of these electronic 
instruments for myself someday.” Another youth 
performer, Jailisa (Hongtan) He, declares, “Getting to 
perform on the stage was really fun. Playing my music 
and instruments was really fun.” 

Newcomers often face a variety of 
barriers in their transition to new 

communities and this celebration is a 
successful step toward providing them 

with a feeling of belonging. 

~ Ian Shaw ~ 
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3. Anti-Racism 
This work looks at issues of power and privilege and how they impact individual and systemic 
discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to build equity and justice in our institutions 
and communities. 

Racism being exposed 
at the Individual and 
Systemic Levels
Current Trends 

In 2019, the Canadian Museum for Human Rights and 
the Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls 
inquiry both recognized colonialism as genocide against 
Indigenous people. Systemic racism is evident in the 
Indian Act, scrip system to remove lands from Métis 
control, residential schools, sixties scoop, and currently 
disproportionate rates of poverty, incarceration, and 
children in social services care. Cultural racism is also 
visible in the general acceptance of disparities, as well 
as the increasing acceptance of expression of stereotypes 
and hate.

This past year, we have witnessed many events, 
such as the recent New Zealand mosque shootings, 
that are motivated by white supremacist ideologies. 

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) is 
paying attention to the rising “white” nationalism and 
Islamophobia around the world and their devastating 
effects. We can see the four types of racism at work: 
systemic, cultural, individual and internalized. MCoS 
recognizes the importance of faith to many people's 
cultural identity. We also recognize the destructive force 
of discrimination based on faith. Because "race" is a 
social, not a genetic, concept, faith groups can 
be racialized. 

Anti-racism work is important and needed. It is a pivotal 
time for our province, our country and the world. It is 
a time to consider how racial discrimination affects our 
lives, and how cultural diversity enriches them. At the 
core, racism and other oppressions are about power and 
privilege. In the quest to build equity and justice in our 
institutions and communities, anti-racism work challenges 
the status quo. It is essential to commit to this difficult, 
long-term work in order to create communities that are 
welcoming and inclusive for all. 

Racism: Recognize it. 
Reject it! 
Provincial Education Campaign 
 
Designated by the United Nations (UN), March 21 is 
the International Day for the Elimination of Racial 
Discrimination. It is a day observed around the world 
to focus attention on the problems of racism and the 
need to promote racial harmony. The UN made this 
designation in 1966 to mark a tragic event that took 
place on March 21, 1960 in Sharpeville, South Africa 
when 69 peaceful demonstrators were killed during a 
protest against apartheid. The March 21 campaign was 
initiated to increase awareness of the harmful effects of 
racism on a national scale and to clearly demonstrate the 
commitment and leadership of governments, institutions, 
and individuals to foster respect, equality, and diversity. 
 
MCoS coordinates and supports campaigns and activities 
in Saskatchewan communities and schools with 
contributions from many partners to recognize March 
21 and use it as a springboard for the year-long work 
to recognize and reject racism. This year’s campaign 
featured the new theme “Racism: Recognize it. Reject 
it!” The goals of the campaign were to raise awareness of 
racism including how it works, the damage it causes, and  

how to recognize and reject it.
  
This year, we created a downloadable PDF activity kit, 
available in English and French, which highlights how 
to recognize and reject racism using local and national 
examples. We also launched a social media campaign 
to accompany this campaign using #MarchOutRacism. 
Campaign advertising was both print and digital including 
a short promotional video.  

During March, we invited members, partners, schools, 
workplaces, faith groups, and the public to download 
a free activity kit, set it up leading up to March 21, 
and record it with photos and video and post to social 
media using #MarchOutRacism. This was a catalyst for 
many conversations! We also hosted a series of Arrêt/
Stop Racism Facilitator Training and Youth Leadership 
Workshops as well as Community Forums on Racism across 
the province in La Ronge, North Battleford, Swift Current, 
Regina and Yorkton. 

“In North Battleford we had such a great response during 
the first community forum and people ready for action, 
that we were requested to come back and help set up a 
base for activities and engagement,” states Anti-Racism 
Coordinator Anna Bajpai. “During the second forum, ideas 
from the first one were grouped and discussed further. 
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The forums provided a springboard to start BRIDGES with 
community engagement, as well as identify an ideal 
coordinator.” 

Upon launching our social media ads, we saw positive 
engagement in the form of reactions, shares, and follows. 
We also faced resistance. Challenging comments ranged 
from questioning and uninformed to a loss of hope for 
change to overtly racist and anti-Muslim. Many are based 
in the idea that racism is only individual/interpersonal 
with no recognition of cultural, systemic, and internalized 
racism. This is not surprising, but rather demonstrates 
how important anti-racism work is in Saskatchewan. In the 
March newsletter we provided screenshots of some of the 
comments and a call to action.

MCoS responded respectfully and openly to commenters, 
providing perspectives based in research, education, 
solutions, and campaign information. We also put forth 
a call to action asking members, friends, partners, 
and funders to engage in respectful and educational 
conversations with these folks online and offline. Some 
people answered our call to action, and it helped to shift 
the conversations toward clarity, truth, and solutions. 

MARCH 21 
CAMPAIGN IMPACT 

• Campaign page visits - 2,284 (188% 
increase over 2017)

• Ad Impressions - 850,606  
• Click through rate - 0.35%  
• Social Media Engagements – 4,092  
• Social Media Followers – Increase across 

all platforms – notably Facebook: 260 
• #MarchOutRacism - 66 mentions 
• Arrêt/Stop Racism Facilitator Training – 

63 Participants 
• Arrêt/Stop Racism Youth Leadership 

Workshops – 329 participants 
• Community Forums – 5 forums;  98 total  

participants 
• Media Coverage – 17 Stories

March 21 
Racism: 
Recognize it. 
Reject it! 
Activity Kit

Regina 
Community 
forum on 
Racism.

Over 30 
people 
attended.
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Art of Diversity - Anti 
Racism Workshop 
Strategic Initiative (SI)

This year the Southwest Newcomer Welcome Centre 
partnered with MCoS to commemorate and promote 
awareness for the International Day for the Elimination of 
Racial Discrimination. Swift Current Comprehensive High 
School held an Anti-Racism Youth Leadership Workshop 
in March. Before the youth workshop, MCoS provided a 
day of facilitator training to volunteers, ensuring those 
assisting at the workshop were well equipped. Three 
communities participated: Swift Current, Shaunavon, 
and Maple Creek with 50 participants from four schools. 
This workshop led youth through a variety of interactive 
activities designed to engage and promote discussion 

about racism and discrimination.
 
The Grand Coteau Heritage and Culture Centre in 
Shaunavon held a poster contest for grades 6-12, inviting 
the community to vote for first, second, and third 
place, in two age categories. The poster contest is an 
opportunity for schools, students, and the community 
to celebrate March 21 and to recommit themselves to 
the elimination of discrimination of all kinds. In Maple 
Creek at the Jasper Cultural and Historical Centre, there 
was an installation of 40 posters created by students 
between 2008 and 2011, themed around the elimination 
of racial discrimination. The installation was open to 
the community for one month. All three events were 
successful and well attended. Many community members 
and schools expressed interest in participating again 
next year.

Photos: Maple Creek Advance Times | Page 9 | April 9, 2019 
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Generating Momentum 
Activism through 
Leadership Camp
Strategic Initiative (SI) 

While there are other youth leadership programs in 
Saskatchewan, what makes the Regina Public Interest 
Research Group (RPIRG) program, Generating Momentum, 
unique is its design that strives to be a model of 
intentional and thoughtful community organizing. “While 
our core components remain similar, we work every 
year to adapt our programming and environment to meet 
the needs of participants so they can focus on learning 
while we are together,” explains Krystal Lewis, Executive 
Director, RPIRG. Over the years, the program has seen 
the inclusion of a growing self-care program and childcare 
to make camp a more family-friendly experience. The 
planning committee and project partners consist of a 
variety of actors who work with youth - each provides 
valuable insight that contributes to the growth of 
the camp. 
 
Fifty participants took part in the four-day camp, 
predominantly from Regina and Saskatoon, but some 
from smaller centres nearby and a couple from out of 
province. They gathered alongside 18 facilitators and 
program staff to engage in wide-ranging discussions. Some 
participants talked about their experience as refugees. 
The late Life Speaker, Noel Starblanket, helped connect 
this to colonialism and the treaties. Seasoned activists 
shared lessons they have learned from taking action 
on a variety of issues. Local artists presented theatre 
performances discussing the realities 
of racism in Saskatchewan. 

“Looking at the impact of our programming, many 
of our participants are already engaged in volunteer 
work or community organizing in their hometowns,” 
observes Lewis. “Due to exploring some new outreach 

opportunities, the vast majority of campers in 2018 were 
first time participants. This is an exciting development!” 
 
The participants provided feedback once the camp ended. 
The following excerpts outlinethe personal and community 
impact of the programs. The most useful skills gained by 
participants include “Better conceptual frameworks for 
organizing,” and “Active listening: helping, supporting 
and respecting other people’s perspectives.” A few 
participants shared the most awesome thing they learned: 
“Issues surrounding immigrants and refugees. I was 
not fully aware of the terminology and the process of 
entering Canada,” and “I found the concept of looking at 
disability as a social construct to be very impactful.” After 
completing the camp many participants feel that they can 
make a difference inside their communities. 
 
Based on feedback, it is apparent that many youth left 
with increased confidence in their ability to understand 
important local and global issues. They also developed 
more skills to organize themselves and their communities 
to take action on what matters most to them. Most 
importantly, the youth have hope for an equitable and 
better world.

Looking at the impact of our programming, 
many of our participants are already engaged 
in volunteer work or community organizing in 
their hometowns. Due to exploring some new 
outreach opportunities, the vast majority of 
campers in 2018 were first time participants. 

This is an exciting development!

~ Krystal Lewis ~ 
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Responding to Racism 
through Art
Strategic Initiative (SI) 
 
In August 2016, Indigenous youth, Colten Boushie, was 
killed by local farmer, Gerald Stanley. The surrounding 
high profile court case and the subsequent public 
backlash shone a spotlight on the realities of racism in 
Saskatchewan. The overt racism surrounding this tragedy 
was the impetus for Respond to Racism. The Respond to 
Racism program aims to equip Saskatchewan communities 
with the tools, education, confidence, and comfort to find 
their role in this necessary work. The goal is to confront 
racism by bridging communities and building relationships 
through the arts. As part of Common Weal Community 
Arts Respond to Racism programming, three local artists 
were in residence across Southern Saskatchewan between 
September 2018 and July 2019. The program engaged over 
3,000 participants. 
 
Spoken word artist and activist, Zoey Roy, shared Ally 
Affirmation workshops (for adults) and anti-racism 
song writing workshops (for youth through schools) 
in Yorkton, Wynyard, Swift Current, Climax, North 
Battleford, Weyburn, Indian Head, and Regina Beach. 
During workshops geared towards settler communities, 
Zoey introduced the seven sacred teachings and asked 
participants to reflect on the foundations of their own 
bias. One North Battleford participant says, “I learned 
that racism is not just the actions of people. It stems 
from policy and laws.” Zoey provided needed space in 
the community for conversation and voices to be heard, 
while contextualizing the conversation through education 
around structural racism and policy. Participants left with 
a list of seven actions, they had created, that they can 
use to change the discourse within their community.  

Multi-genre artist Joely BigEagle-Kequahtooway and 
Buffalo People Arts Institute brought the history of the 
Buffalo and its significance to Plains Indigenous people 
into rural and reserve communities through buffalo 

hide tanning workshops and storytelling. Joely weaves 
together buffalo teachings, the history of colonization, 
her own personal journey towards finding her culture, and 
workshops that include hide tanning and traditional arts. 
Her workshops immerse participants in knowledge through 
an experience that is physical, mental, emotional, 
and spiritual.  

Kris Alvarez, Regina theatre artist, worked with residents 
of the Heritage Community of Regina. Using performance, 
social circumstance, and cultural connections, she looked 
for ways to bridge socio-economic and cultural divisions 
in the neighbourhood. The result was an intercultural 
community event called Golden Potluck. Attended by over 
90 people, the event successfully bridged socioeconomic 
divisions - bringing neighbours together to eat, share, 
listen, and dance. An exciting piece of this program 
included conversations with residents around privilege 
and community service, and looked at how those with 
privilege in the community can work to make space for 
marginalized voices.

In addition, Kris worked with MCoS’ Youth Bridges 
program, offering regular workshops that lead up to a 
weeklong camp. With the support of Joely BigEagle-
Kequahtooway, Kris used theatre games and storytelling 
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to build comfort, confidence, and cultural understanding 
between newcomer and Indigenous youth. “The thing I 
liked about the workshop is that I challenged myself and 
left my comfort zone,” recaps a Youth Bridges participant. 
Reflecting on the experience another participant says, “I 
got a lot of things like friendship, laughter, and how to be 
comfortable with who I am.” 

 “I am very thankful for the opportunity to bridge with 
Nakoda Oyade Education Centre (NOEC) at Carry the 
Kettle. The activities led by Kris were wonderful, but even 
more rewarding were the opportunities for our students 
to participate with students from NOEC. We are such 
close neighbours, yet have very few opportunities to mix 
and learn from each other. Becoming more familiar and 
comfortable with each other will improve relationships 
and comfort, thus reducing racism and fear,” observes 
Robin Svenbjornson, Teacher, Indian Head High School. 

...We are such close neighbours, yet have 
very few opportunities to mix and learn 
from each other. Becoming more familiar 

and comfortable with each other will 
improve relationships and comfort, 

thus reducing racism and fear. 

~ Robin Svenbjornson ~ 

Truth and Reconciliation: 
Healing Families – Act Now 
Regional Multicultural Council Project and 
Sponsorship 

Ever since the Truth and Reconciliation Committee put 
forward the 94 Calls to Action, Southwest Multicultural 
Association (SWMA) has made a commitment to increase 
the awareness of all Canadians on the issues related to 
the Calls to Action. A survey done four years ago cited 
that 30 per cent of Canadians in Prairie Provinces had not 
heard about residential schools. “This report made us 
more resolute in doing something to increase awareness 
and knowledge on reconciliation and the historical 
Indigenous events that led to it,” emphasizes SWMA 
director Bula Ghosh.

The theme for the event was the Sixties Scoop and it was 
called Truth and Reconciliation: Healing Families – Act 
Now. The event was held on June 5 in Swift Current at 
Great Plains College with over 300 students, staff, and 
school board members from the Chinook School Division, 
as well as members of the public attending the morning 
session. The attendees were provided with orange t-shirts 
with the name of the event and the main message of the 
event in Cree: “Many Children Taken Away”. 

The speakers, Vince Vandale and Leticia Racine, are 
Sixties Scoop survivors. Following the presentations, 
there was a round dance with all the attendees of the 

event followed by a smudge walk to the Market Square. 
Drummers and knowledge keeper Wendell Starblanket 
joined in the smudge walk. The students from the local 
Chinook School Division carried the flags, banners, and 
placards to the Market Square. A Treaty 4 flag, Métis flag, 
and flags from three levels of government were raised at 
the Market Square. Students read out the Calls to Action 
appropriate to the event, followed by a brief speech on 
Reconciliation by the Deputy Mayor of the City of 
Swift Current. 
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A grade 12 student explains, “My call to action, after 
learning about this subject, would be to spread my new 
knowledge to other people. My goal wouldn’t be to force 
people to agree with what I am telling them, but to 
realize they have been informed. I want to share with 
people the hardships Indigenous people went through and 
continue to face, whether they decide to agree or not.”  

At the Market Square, Elder Joseph Naytowhow performed 
a jig to fiddle music. Elder Naytowhow also taught 
students how to dance the jig. The morning session 
ended with a lunch of bison stew, bannock, and brownies 
prepared by Living Sky Casino.

“I will tell my parents about the walk and spread the 
knowledge that I learned at the Truth and Reconciliation 
walk. I will use the information I learned and expand it 
by connecting to topics in school and in the community,” 
affirms another grade 12 student. 

The day concluded with an event at Swift Current Library. 
Leticia Racine, Sixties Scoop survivor, and Zoey Roy, 
spoken word artist and activist, spoke and performed. 
About 40 people attended the evening event. The Swift 
Current Truth and Reconciliation Committee hosted the 
events. This committee is comprised of representatives 
from different organizations or individuals. The members 

are representing City of Swift Current, Great Plains 
College, Chinook School Division, Living Sky Casino, 
Chinook Regional Library, Métis Elders, Southwest 
Newcomer Welcome Centre, and Southwest Multicultural 
Association. Recently, Saskatchewan Health Authority – 
Cypress Health Region has joined the committee.

Robin Bendig, Co-chair of the Indigenous Engagement 
Committee at Great Plains College summarizes 
the experience observing, “The June 5 Walk for 
Reconciliation, located in Swift Current on Treaty 4 
Territory and Homeland of Métis, was a meaningful event 
to experience. It was great to see so many organizations 
and community members come together to learn about 
Canada’s history and participate in First Nations and 
Métis traditions. This event created a safe space to learn 
about the Sixties Scoop and the Truth and Reconciliation 
Commission’s Calls to Action. The Walk for Reconciliation 
fostered relationship building and awareness among 
community members, students, organizations, and various 
leaders in the Swift Current region.” 

This committee has made a commitment to hold four 
events on reconciliation. The first event, held in 2017, 
was “Truth and Reconciliation – Let’s Walk the Talk”, 
focusing on residential schools. The second event, held in 
2018, was “Truth and Reconciliation - Healing Families - 
Act Now”, focusing on the Sixties Scoop. The third event, 
held in May 2019, was “Truth and Reconciliation - Justice 
for Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls”, 
focusing on Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women 
and Children and the effects on Indigenous families and 
Canadian society.  

“Reconciliation is everybody’s business,” asserts 
Ghosh. “We strongly believe that by taking part in the 
reconciliation process in our own way, we will lay the 
foundation for a better tomorrow for all of us. Youth 
participation is another highlight of this event and it will 
have an impact on our shared future.” Ghosh points out 
that by 2025, there will be a significant increase in the 
number of Indigenous people in the workforce. Truth and 
Reconciliation events will create better understanding and 
more harmony in our shared future together.  

Reconciliation is everybody’s business.  
We strongly believe that by taking part 
in the reconciliation process in our own 

way, we will lay the foundation for a
 better tomorrow for all of us. 

~ Bula Ghosh ~ 



33ANNUAL REPORT 2018 - 2019

4. Intercultural Connections 
Entails different cultural groups coming together over time to build bridges through exchanges, 
cooperative work, creating safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc. 

Cultural Bridging for 
Reconciliation - 
Sharing Across Cultures 
Strategic Initiative (SI) 
 
This project focused on bringing together newcomer and 
Indigenous communities in the spirit of reconciliation. 
Through small group activities, gatherings, and 
events, the two groups were encouraged to share their 
experiences and cultures with a focus on commonalities 
rather than differences. The project was divided into 
three categories: Culture and Food, Culture and Music, 
and Culture and Art. Over 30 people, with a balanced 
representation of newcomers and Indigenous people 
attended each event. Engaging newcomer and Indigenous 
communities creates intercultural connections that build 
stronger relationships by encouraging learning, friendship, 
and trust; all are important in the process 
of reconciliation.  
 
During the first event, Culture and Food, five local 
caterers representing Indigenous, Latin American, 
African, Asian and Far East cuisine, shared the cultural 
significance of the food they had prepared. After a hearty 

meal, Cultural Bridging facilitators encouraged small 
table discussion around everyone’s favourite topic: food! 
At the second event, Culture and Music, participants 
were excited to discover that a common theme for all 
performing groups was love. The evening featured musical 
performances from an Indigenous singer/drummer, Andean 
folk band, Ukrainian trumpeter, Egyptian drummer, and 
Chinese instrumentalist. The third event, Culture and 
Art, showed similarities in art forms around the world. It 
brought to light the cultural significance of certain artistic 
hairstyles, such as braids, and how the colonization of 
these styles in African and Residential Schools was forced 
upon people to oppress cultural identity. Artists were 
from Venezuelan, Cree, Ukrainian, Syrian, and the 
Congolese heritages.  
 
“By using the three themes of food, music and art, 
participants were able to find common ground in 
universal subjects. They shared conversations, stories and 
experiences with people they would not normally have 
the opportunity to meet,” explains Julie Fleming Juarez, 
Team Lead, Community Connections and Cultural Bridging, 
Saskatoon Open Door Society. This direct impact changed 
the views of many people towards each other, and they 
agreed it is an experience they will share with others in 
their family and community.” 
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A Journey of 
Transformational Change  
in Education 
Strategic Initiative (SI) 

Dorintosh Central School subscribes to the approach 
of inclusion for meeting the needs of all students. 
This requires a student directed approach focused on 
student strengths, needs, and interests. In an effort to 
cultivate a strong sense of belonging with peers, staff, 
and community members, Dorintosh students developed 
the Culturally Courageous Land Based Leadership (CCLL) 
initiative. It works in the Circle of Courage model of 
belonging, mastery, independence, and generosity based 
on the Lakota medicine wheel. The intent is to create 
student learning that is holistic, self-directed, focused on 
Truth and Reconciliation, and land-based.

Each land-based activity is organized into traditional 
local Cree seasons; September/October is Takwakin (fall), 
January/February is Pipon (winter), and May/June is 
Miyoskamin (ice breakup). Additionally, each season has 
activities that connect to traditional themes of the season 
and the Saskatchewan Curriculum, specifically Treaty 
Education learning strands. Furthermore, activities are 
self-directed by the students of Dorintosh Central School. 
Grade 8 student, Colt Esquash, says, “It has been really 
cool. I have got to do things that are part of my culture 
like smudging, carving geese, and offering tobacco to the 
creator. I would like to do more.” 

School staff also helps students facilitate this process and 
provide guidance to ensure that the activities are linked 
to holistic learning, the Circle of Courage, land-based 
education, and Truth and Reconciliation. Throughout this 
practice, they consult with local Elder, Sid Fiddler, from 
Waterhen Lake First Nation to ensure that their process 
respects and acknowledges local Cree epistemology and 
pedagogy. Student academic achievement is collected 
using observation, conversations, and products using the 
Saskatchewan Curriculum. School staff has deconstructed 
the entire K-8 curriculum in all subjects to create learning 
destinations for this programming.  

“I think as teachers, the more experience you acquire, the 
more you realize just because it might look different than 
a traditional classroom doesn’t mean we can’t accomplish 
some really good things,” observes Mr. Thompson, Grade 
5/6 Teacher. “I place a lot of value in what it can teach 
these students right across the curriculum, and we are 
diligent about making those connections in terms of 
presenting differentiated instruction across the board. 
This is what education should look like. I see there being 
enormous potential, and it gives the students a real sense 
of belonging.” 

This project has enabled institutional transformation 
to begin. Staff have been able to reinforce K-8 cross-
curricular strategies of literacy through land-based 
education. They have created a gradeless math class 
and connected it to the land. Strong partnerships based 
in Truth and Reconciliation have been formed with the 
Meadow Lake Tribal Council, Waterhen Lake First Nation, 
Makwa Sahgaiehcan First Nation School, Northwest 
School Division, and Ecojustice. Meaningful relationships 
have been developed with Elders Sid Fiddler, Judy Bear, 
and Robert Gladue. “CCLL has influenced strong student 
relationships and a sense of belonging in our school. 
This has not only benefitted our staff, parents, and 
community, but also directly impacts students who are 
more engaged in all aspects of learning,” reflects 
Michael Radford, Principal.

CCLL has influenced strong student 
relationships and a sense of belonging in 

our school. This has not only benefitted our 
staff, parents, and community, but also 
directly impacts students who are more 

engaged in all aspects of learning.

~ Michael Radford ~ 
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Building Communities and 
Bridging Cultures 
Community Partnerships and Projects
 
BRIDGES 
 
In 2014, the Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan 
(MCoS), Aboriginal Friendship Centres of Saskatchewan 
(AFCS), and Saskatchewan Association of Immigrant 
Settlement and Integration Agencies (SAISIA) created 
a provincial partnership to provide leadership and 
support for intercultural relationships. They created a 
project called BRIDGES (Building Relationships through 
Intercultural Dialogue and Growing Engagement in 
Saskatchewan), and it uses a model by which local 
members take the lead in each community where BRIDGES 
is active. To date, BRIDGES programs operate in Prince 
Albert (Common Ground), Regina (Youth BRIDGES), 
Saskatoon (CultureNet), Yorkton, and the Battlefords. 
Local projects have demonstrated significant success and 
a desire for continuation and growth.  
 
Common Ground Prince Albert  
 
In Prince Albert, the legacy of the Common Ground 
Project continues through the commitment of the 
interagency partnerships and the addition of partner 
Lakeland District for Sport, Culture, and Recreation 
(LDSCR). All partners agree on the importance of including 
components that emphasize relationships between 
newcomers, Indigenous, and Métis people, as well as 
moving to phase four of BRIDGES: extending connections 
to the entire community. 
 
To that end, the Prince Albert Indian and Métis Friendship 
Centre (PAIMFC) held a mini round dance with support 
from the Common Ground Project. Additional sponsorship 
from the Won-Ska Cultural School/Prince Albert Outreach 
Program helped coordinate drummers, elders, a stickman, 
emcees, the pipe ceremony, and the feast. The feast was 
buffet-style featuring moose and duck soup, bannock, 
berries, and fruit. The feast promoted diversity and 

intercultural connections through the diverse Indigenous 
groups representing Métis, Cree, Dene, and Ojibwe, and 
through the intercultural families in attendance seeking 
to build connections for their children. 
 
Lisa Quartel, an established Canadian and her partner, 
a newcomer from Germany, said it was an honour to 
attend the round dance. “We are always grateful for 
opportunities to introduce our children to cultural 
traditions from Treaty 6 territory. We think it's essential 
for everyone living here to place value on these traditions 
and to learn about indigenous culture. Events like this 
create connections and breakdown barriers between 
people who live here."   
 
As a global movement spreads espousing racism, 
islamophobia, and populism, the Common Ground 
Project is focusing on creating safer, more cohesive and 
harmonious communities. It partnered with organizers 
of Diversity Night for March 21: International Day for the 
Elimination of Racial Discrimination, spearheaded by the 
Prince Albert Multicultural Council, including the City of 
Prince Albert, YWCA Prince Albert, LDSCR and PAIMFC. 
The event featured an opening prayer by Elder Florence 
Allen, a Métis presentation by Shelly Belhumeur, and 
a prayer from Imam Irshad. There were performances 
by the Riverside Jiggers, Warrior Tracks Drumming, and 
Prince Albert Salsa. Attendees enjoyed global cuisine 
representing Indigenous, Métis, Filipino, Korean, and 
Japanese cultures. An interactive portion included a 
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dance lesson from Prince Albert Salsa and a segment on 
“Recognizing and Rejecting Racism” where the audience 
discussed ways they recognize and reject racism.  
 
The collaborative efforts of the partners led to an 
overwhelming response from the community.  
Notable feedback from participant Crystal Gayle Halliday 
demonstrates this: “I believe the majority of racism is 
rooted in fear. Fear of the unknown and fear of what we 
do not understand. In order to combat that fear, I reach 
out and ask questions to newcomers to Canada. I love 
doing this! I have learnt so much about culture, religion 
and my favourite foods!” 
 
Youth BRIDGES Regina  
 
Youth BRIDGES continues to make a significant 
contribution to intercultural relationships in our 
community by fostering newcomer and Indigenous youth 
to learn together and from each other. Youth BRIDGES saw 
increased commitment from organizations such as Regina 
Open Door Society (RODS), Regina Newo Yotina Friendship 
Centre (NYFC), North Central Family Centre (NCFC), 
Common Weal and, Saskatchewan Writers’ Guild (SWG).  
 
Youth BRIDGES started with a field trip to Fort Qu’Appelle 
for the Treaty 4 Gathering. This was followed by creative 
writing workshops, facilitated by Veracity from SWG, 
for youth to explore their experiences at the Gathering 
with emphasis on what they learned about each other’s 
cultures and how to form friendships across cultures.  

They engaged in a two-day workshop based in buffalo 
teachings by Joely BigEagle-Kequahtooway, co-founder of 
the Buffalo People Art Institute. The first day consisted 
of a smudge ceremony and learning about the history of 
the Indigenous peoples’ deep traditional connection with 
the buffalo. Storytelling focused on the annihilation of 
the buffalo population, colonial legacy, and Indigenous 
resilience. “The buffalo may not be the sole solution to 
the issues we face today but it can be a purposeful one 
- one that we as Indigenous people were connected to 

for thousands of years prior to the creation of Canada,” 
explains BigEagle-Kequahtooway.  

The second day consisted of buffalo teachings and 
buffalo rawhide art projects. Participants shared a meal 
together of buffalo meat and bannock with structured 

conversations about racism. The sharing was intense, 
deeply personal, and spoke to deep trauma experienced 
by some of the participants. There was significant 
mutual peer-support, demonstrating the cross-cultural 
relationships developed. 

Through a Dinner with Friends event, Elder Archie Weenie 
facilitated learning focused on Indigenous traditions 
and their significance. From this, flowed discussions on 
commonalities and differences. Elder Weenie invited 
RODS male youth to take part in the drumming. After 
an Indigenous dance demonstration by a NCFC youth 
participant, some RODS youth were invited to dance their 
own dances. Making dream catchers together allowed 
opportunity for informal conversations and sharing. Having 
an item to take home ensured that participants had a 
reminder of their social and cultural learning.  
 
“The spontaneous nature of the invitation from 
NCFC indicates that Youth BRIDGES is able to evolve into 

The buffalo may not be the sole solution 
to the issues we face today but it can be 

a purposeful one - one that we as 
Indigenous people were connected to 

for thousands of years prior to the 
creation of Canada.

~ Joely BigEagle-Kequahtooway ~ 
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activities supported by local agencies that can grow and 
flourish organically. This is very encouraging to witness,” 
says MCoS interim Education & BRIDGES Coordinator 
Christine van der Merwe. 
 
CultureNet Saskatoon  
 
As a BRIDGES pilot, CultureNet Saskatoon, sought to build 
and strengthen relationships and understanding between 
Indigenous and settlement organizations and communities. 
The focus was to help celebrate and learn about 
Saskatoon’s diverse cultures and connect organizations, 
agencies, levels of government, and community members 
through knowledge sharing, networking and honouring 
different cultures. This network grew to include 122 
organizations and 288 individuals with continuing interest. 

One of the main goals of the project was to organize 
community-networking opportunities, since there are 
already numerous activities BRIDGES-type in Saskatoon. 
The four networking events were attended by 172 people. 

Highlights include:  
• Current and future initiatives – participants wrote 

current initiatives and future ideas on sticky notes 
and posted to a wall for others to see and try to make 
connections or partnerships based on what  
was shared;

• Organizational speed dating – organizations learned 
about one another through a series of questions (both 

personal and work-related) to see if they can match 
either on a cultural level or organizational level; 

• Cultural Q and A – participants had an opportunity to 
answer cultural questions either in a discussion with 
others around a table or individually on a piece of 
paper; and, 

• Project of Heart Tiles – participants decorated wooden 
tiles to honour Indian Residential School (IRS) and 60’s 
Scoop victims and survivors in the spirit  
of Reconciliation. 

“Providing opportunities for networking and sharing 
is valuable for community,” explains Alicia Buckley, 
Coordinator, CultureNet Saskatoon. “Through learning 
about each other’s culture, personal experiences and 
histories, participants are able to explore similarities 
and differences that further connect one another, build 
relationships and partnerships, and a healthier and 
inclusive community in Saskatoon.” 
 
CultureNet Saskatoon was possible through a SaskCulture 
Multicultural Initiatives Fund Project grant to SAISIA with 
financial and in-kind contributions from AFCS and MCoS. 
Plans are in the works for future CultureNet Saskatoon 
initiatives focused on both some of the ideas generated 
at gatherings, and  maintaining a strong network of 
organizations and individuals.

Through learning about each other’s 
culture, personal experiences and histories, 

participants are able to explore 
similarities and differences that further 

connect one another, build relationships and 
partnerships, and a healthier and inclusive 

community in Saskatoon.

~ Alicia Buckley ~ 
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5. Integration
Integration, in contrast to assimilation, is achieved when all members of a community are 
reflected, are seen and see themselves as belonging for all aspects of their identities, are valued for 
their contributions, and are able to appropriately access services. 

The Refugee Experience 
Multicultural Education Initiative (MEI)         

As the refugee population increases in Regina schools, 
teachers and administrators want to create spaces that 
are both welcoming and provide an optimal learning 
environment. In November 2018, administrators and 
teachers from across Regina Public Schools were invited to 
an evening event to learn about the refugee experience, 
presented by the Elementary Schools Administrator’s 
Association. Learning more about the refugee experience 
can help to create a welcoming environment. 

Approximately 50 educators attended the event where 
the Canadian Labour Congress brought in their refugee 
simulation tent. This tent represents a real refugee 
tent from a refugee camp. As a person enters the tent, 
they are hooked up to a 3D simulation. This five-minute 
simulation puts participants in the shoes of a recent 
refugee. It is a powerful and emotional experience. 

Attendees were also treated to a presentation by 
Ponziano Aluma, author of We’re Here! Now What?, 
which includes humorous stories of newcomers. Although 
his book is one of humour, his personal experiences as a 
refugee from South Sudan are not humorous. He shared 
about his refugee experience and answered questions 
from the audience. “I just wanted to say thank you for 
the opportunity to share my refugee experience with your 
fellow teachers. I hope I was able to add a little bit of 
insight to someone's understanding of refugee situation,” 
says Aluma after sharing his story. 

School Administrator, Angela Hutton, asserts that 
challenging discrimination and promoting respect for 
refugees starts with school staff. “We want to open minds 
and hearts to newcomers and believe that staff hearing 
directly from newcomers and the struggles they have 
faced will help. We also want school staff to hear about 
what it is like to be a refugee and a parent and how we, 
as teachers and administrators, can assist them.”  

We want to open minds and hearts to 
newcomers and believe that staff hearing 
directly from newcomers and the struggles 

they have faced will help. We also want school 
staff to hear about what it is like to be a 

refugee and a parent and how we, as teachers 
and administrators, can assist them.

~ Angela Hutton ~ 
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Ness Creek Music Festival 
Builds Cultural Connections 
Strategic Initiative (SI) 

The Cultural Connections programming impacts both the 
audience as well as the artists involved at Ness Creek 
Music Festival. The 2018 Cultural Connections consisted of 
68 First Nation, Métis and New Canadian participants who 
presented over 20 performances, interactive workshops, 
and activities to a festival audience of over 3500 people. 
According to 2018 festival surveys, 95 per cent of those 
surveyed agree that Cultural Connections multicultural 
programming is a valuable component to the festival, 
indicating an appreciation of the benefits of recognizing 
everyone’s contributions. At the yearend event, 
BackwardsNess, 16 New Canadians joined 125 participants 
for fun and games at this intimate gathering in the boreal 
forest. In addition to enjoying the musical entertainment, 
they had the opportunity to join the Ness community in 
old-time games such as three-legged races, horseshoes, 
and axe throwing. 

As part of the organization’s values, it is important 
to break down barriers and encourage dialogue and 
understanding in Canada’s cultural landscape. By creating 
safe and fun opportunities for intercultural engagement, 
cultural barriers and stereotypes that stem from lack of 
cross-cultural interaction are broken down. The Festival 
has seen the benefits that come from Cultural Connections 

artists building these bridges within the Ness Creek 
community. This programming plants the seeds for new 
and lasting intercultural relationships, which has become 
more and more important in today’s diverse world. 

“Ness Creek was a personal experience of growth, both 
as a person and as an artist. It was sublime to experience 
diverse, creative space where I could feel free myself 
and connect with other artists through music and dance,” 
exclaims Salma Kazmi, Indian Classical Dancer. “As a 
newcomer artist, this was my first experience performing 
in Canada, not to mention the first time performing on a 
stage in the woods! It was amazing to be able to share my 
identity and passion with the local community.” 

Jebunnessa Chapola, Bangla singer and Cultural 
Connections Coordinator, talks about how this informal 
learning space helps her learn about interculturalism, the 
challenges faced by immigrant artists to grow in this new 
climate, and how to develop her leadership skills. “It is 
an empowering tool and this work helped me to protect 
my cultural practices. I gave up singing a long time ago 
because I was shy to sing Bangla songs after immigrating 
here,” reflects Chapola. “But this program gave me the 
freedom to sing once again. Today, I sing in my Bangla 
language without any fear. It changed my life and helped 
me to get back my voice. This program gives voice to the 
minority community volunteers and artists.”  

As a newcomer artist [Indian Classical 
Dancer] this was my first experience 

performing in Canada, not to mention the 
first time performing on a stage in the woods! 
It was amazing to be able to share my identity 

and passion with the local community.

~ Salma Kazmi ~ 
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INVOLVE is Evolving 
Partnership Project 
 
Successful integration is measured by how well 
marginalized individuals become equal participants in 
all dimensions of society including the local cultural, 
economic, social and civic/political systems while 
preserving cultural identity. Integration supports 
welcoming and inclusive communities that recognize 
everyone’s contributions, and reflect all people and 
cultures in organizations, institutions, businesses and 
personal relationships. Integration results in a sense  
of belonging. 
 
In the INVOLVE (Integrating New Volunteers with 
Opportunities to add Leadership Value through Education) 
program, trained facilitators offer a series of interactive 
learning sessions to prepare participants for leadership 
volunteer roles in many types of community and civic 
organizations. INVOLVE is a program that was piloted by 
the Regina Open Door Society (RODS) in partnership with 
the Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan (MCoS) and 
SaskCulture in 2015. RODS continues to offer the program. 
A provincial partnership of the Saskatchewan Association 
of Immigrant Settlement and Integration Agencies 
(SAISIA), SaskCulture and MCoS worked with Southeast 
Newcomer Services to offer a second pilot in Weyburn in 
March 2017. Incorporating learning from the two pilots, 
MCoS trained 25 people from eight locations to facilitate 
INVOLVE in their communities and organizations.  

Enhancing the Effectiveness of INVOLVE
 
Recently, SaskCulture and MCoS have worked with Dr. 
Heather Ritenburg to create an organizational readiness 
workshop and a mentorship component to enhance the 
effectiveness of INVOLVE. Saskatchewan Festival of Words 
and Moose Jaw Multicultural Council ran the program this 
year with a revised training curriculum. While INVOLVE 
began with a focus on newcomers to Canada; it can now 

include Indigenous people and established Canadians with 
limited leadership volunteer experience. 
 
Melissa Mitchell, Program Manager for the Moose Jaw 
Newcomer Welcome Centre, says that INVOLVE is a great 
program that encourages organizations to open their doors 
to new possibilities and perspectives from newcomers. 
“The newcomers that get involved with a program like 
this are encouraged to use their skills that they often 
don’t feel they can or are nervous to try new things. By 
building networks, practicing English, and becoming part 
of the community, newcomers start to feel a sense of 
worth in the community.” 
 
Saskatchewan Festival of Words executive director, 
Sarah Simison, says that participating in the INVOLVE 
program was an extremely rewarding experience. “It 
brought us closer to newcomers in our community and 
other local non-profit organizations. It helped us grow 
as an organization while also helping individuals develop 
their work and volunteer experience to enhance their 
resumes.” Simison believes that their organization is 
stronger through diversification and inclusion making it 
better able to serve the community in which it operates. 
 
INVOLVE is truly a program in which everyone 
benefits. Participants gain leadership skills, advocacy 
opportunities, experience, networks, and contribute to 
their communities. Welcoming organizations gain new 
perspectives to better serve everyone in appropriate 
and accessible ways and increase their volunteer base 
for the present and future. The contributions of INVOLVE 
participants also support initiatives in Welcoming and 
Inclusive Communities (WIC) and BRIDGES by fostering 
leadership among those whose voices are less often 
reflected in decision-making structures.

The newcomers that get involved with a 
program like this are encouraged to use their 
skills that they often don’t feel they can or 
are nervous to try new things. By building 

networks, practicing English, and becoming 
part of the community, newcomers start to 

feel a sense of worth in the community.

~ Melissa Mitchell ~ 

It brought us closer to newcomers in our 
community and other local non-profit 
organizations. It helped us grow as an 

organization while also helping individuals 
develop their work and volunteer experience 

to enhance their resumes.

~ Sarah Simison ~ 
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6. All Streams of Multicultural Work
The following events demonstrate all five streams of multicultural work.

Celebrate Saskatchewan 
Multicultural Week 
Provincial Education Campaign 
 
We celebrate Saskatchewan Multicultural Week to 
recognize that in 1974, Saskatchewan was the first 
province to enact multiculturalism legislation. It 
recognizes the right of every community to retain its 
identity, language and traditional arts and sciences for 
the mutual benefit of citizens. In 1997, the Act was 
revised and a section of the Act states the policy should 
preserve, strengthen and promote Aboriginal cultures and 
acknowledge their historic and current contribution to 
development of Saskatchewan. Responsibility for the Act 
resides with the Ministry of Parks, Culture and Sport. 
 
MCoS helps keep the spirit and intent of the Act 
alive through provincial campaigns that celebrate 
Saskatchewan’s diversity. This year, we ran the campaign, 
“Who’s Your Multicultural Superhero?”  

Multicultural Superheroes Promote 
Multicultural Values
 
Multicultural Superheroes promote multicultural values 
and inspire everyone to create welcoming and inclusive 
communities! Multicultural Superheroes can include any 
person or group of people, real or fictitious, who inspires 
you with their super powers for respect and inclusion. 

A Multicultural Superhero is someone who creates 
welcoming and inclusive communities by:

• Protecting and celebrating all cultures
• Proudly embracing and sharing traditions
• Battling “Villains”, such as racism, discrimination, 

disrespectful ideologies, oppressive social systems and 
institutions, etc.

• Leaping tall barriers to build bridges for intercultural 
connections

• Activating a power magnet to draw diverse people 
together for creative innovation

• Demonstrating super vision and strength to achieve 
equality and equity for all

 
This campaign allowed the people of Saskatchewan to 
share successful examples of leaders – Multicultural 
Superheroes – who inspire others through their 
values, beliefs, and actions. We asked Saskatchewan 
to share their multicultural superheroes using 
#MulticulturalSuperhero on social media.  

Multicultural Superheroes act as a metaphor for how 
all types of business can learn to better engage their 
customers and the public. They help students and 
teachers see possibilities to celebrate cultural diversity, 
and identify and challenge discrimination. Multicultural 
Superheroes show community organizations how to inspire 
others to engage in their cause. All levels of Government 
can learn why multiculturalism matters and how it can 
better implement the Saskatchewan Multiculturalism Act.
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MCoS Multicultural 
Honours Awards
Annual Awards Event
 
Members of Saskatchewan’s multicultural community 
gathered at Government House in Regina in November 
2018 for MCoS Multicultural Honours to recognize 
significant contributions to multiculturalism by our very 
own multicultural superheroes. This annual hallmark 
event kicks-off Saskatchewan Multicultural Week and the 
host was His Honour the Honourable W. Thomas Molloy, 
Lieutenant Governor of Saskatchewan.  

Master of Ceremonies and Executive Director of the 
Lieutenant Governor’s Office, Heather Salloum, began 
the event by acknowledging that Government House 
is on Treaty 4 territory. Elder Archie Weenie provided 
the opening blessing, setting the tone for a respectful 
and meaningful gathering. The Honourable Tom Molloy, 
Saskatchewan’s 22nd Lieutenant Governor, provided 

opening remarks underscoring the realities of the 
Saskatchewan motto, From Many Peoples Strength, 
and his commitment to reduce racism. The Honourable 
Gene Makowsky, Minister for Parks, Culture and Sport 
spoke, reiterating the benefits of diversity. Finally, 
Neeraj Saroj, President of the Multicultural Council of 
Saskatchewan, brought remarks celebrating volunteers 
and multiculturalism in Saskatchewan.  
 
This year’s presentation highlighted the Sheldon-Williams 
Collegiate Mindful Creative Writing Course featuring a 
reading by student, Mays Al Jamous, of her poem titled 
“Being a Refugee.” The video about the school program 
and the poetry reading provide excellent examples 
of multicultural superheroes who inspire us to build 
welcoming and inclusive communities in our province.
 
Award Nominees and Recipients 

The MCoS recognition committee, comprised of board 
and community members, assesses all nominees on 

their contributions to multiculturalism in Saskatchewan 
through the five streams of multicultural work, Cultural 
Continuity, Celebration of Diversity, Anti-Racism, 
Intercultural Connections, and Integration, and selects  
the recipients.  

The Saskatchewan Government and General Employees’ 
Union (SGEU) once again partnered with the MCoS to 
sponsor the Multicultural Youth Leadership Award. SGEU 
President, Bob Bymoen, brought remarks and introduced 
the award. The 2018 Multicultural Youth Leadership Award 
nominees were Nour Albaradan who stands out for her 
strong and effective involvement in school in the short 
time she has been in Canada, and Jiazhi Ding who is an 
International student at the University of Saskatchewan. 
He has stood up for the rights of Falun Gong and Black 
Lives Matter, as well as supported newcomers. 
   
The recipient of the 2018 Multicultural Youth Leadership 
Award is Nour Albaradan. She received an award of $500 
from MCoS and SGEU. Nour uses her experience, voice, 
and passion to contribute meaningfully to the recognition 
and celebration of multiculturalism. Nour is proud of 
her Syrian heritage; she is happy to share her culture, 
language, and refugee experiences with others. Nour 
is always willing to let her voice be heard for equity 
and against discrimination. She shares her experiences 
in order to foster deeper learning and understanding 
making her an intercultural role model. Nour was part of 
Sheldon’s first Mindful Creative Writing class, where her 
openness and dedication to understanding created an 
environment of inclusion that allowed other students to 
learn from her story and become confident in sharing their 
own stories. Nour’s contributions to her new Canadian 
home are astounding! She uses her powerful voice to 
create awareness and connection. She is a multicultural 
superhero who does not allow anything to stop her. 
 
Muna De Ciman, MCoS Director and Recognition 
Committee Chair, introduced the Betty Szuchewycz 
Award. In partnership with the Saskatchewan Government 
Employees’ Union, Muna presented the four nominees and 
recipient of the 2018 Betty Szuchewycz Award. Barb Dedi 
stands out for her extensive local work with individuals 
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and groups to bridge gaps between communities. 
Hasanthi Galhenage is the director of the Cathedral 
Area Co-operative Daycare. She uses her leadership 
role to cultivate a learning environment that celebrates 
commonalities and differences. Paul Kardynal has been 
a champion for new immigrants to Canada and Ukrainian 
Canadians in the Battlefords and northwest Saskatchewan 
for over 30 years. Yaseen Khan is very committed to 
taking initiatives to create awareness and accommodation 
of cultural diversity in the workplace at SaskTel. 
 
The 2018 Betty Szuchewycz Award recipient is Barb Dedi. 
She selected Spring Free From Racism for a donation of 
$500 from MCoS and SGEU. Barb demonstrates her life-
long commitment to multiculturalism through extensive 
local work with individuals, groups, and organizations in 
Regina, as well as involvement with provincial, national 
and international organizations focusing on human rights, 
employment equity, labour, racism, and psychiatry 
issues. Barb is a cultural continuity role model as she 
promotes ethnocultural organizations to strengthen the 
diversity. She is the President of Spring Free From Racism 
/ Saskatchewan Association on Human Rights Inc. Barb 
welcomes and creates opportunities for people to share 

their stories. She supports organizations to develop a 
deeper understanding of cultural diversity and to create 
respectful communities where everyone is welcome. 
As a force for integration, ensuring all people are seen 
as contributors, Barb has been an activist in the labour 
movement and political realm for human rights, equity 
and women’s committees. Barb’s impressive work is noted 
with awards and nominations, including the Saskatchewan 
Volunteer Medal, SGEU and YWCA. Through her forty years 
of leadership, she has fostered new leaders who take 
significant roles in their own ethnocultural communities, 
lead workshops, coordinate pavilions to celebrate their 
culture and our diversity, and address racism  
and discrimination. 

Participate and nominate next year

MCoS extends gratitude to everyone who participated in 
Saskatchewan Multicultural Week and MCoS Multicultural 
Honours Awards. It is a unique and creative opportunity 
to highlight Saskatchewan’s very own youth and adult 
multicultural superheroes. We encourage everyone to 
participate in the next provincial campaign and awards in 
November 2019.

BACK ROW L-R: 

SGEU President Bob Bymoen, MCoS President Neeraj Saroj, The Honourable Gene Makowsky, and The Honourable Thomas Molloy. 

FRONT ROW L-R: 

MCoS Executive Director Rhonda Rosenberg, MCoS Director and Chair of the Recognition Committee Muna De Ciman, 2018 Betty 
Szuchewycz Award Recipient Barb Dedi, and 2018 Multicultural Youth Leadership Award Recipient Nour Albaradan 
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Enhancing Capacity 
through Education 
MCoS Educational Services  

As immigration grows within our province, Saskatchewan 
is becoming increasingly diverse. Important knowledge 
and skills are required to work effectively with a 
culturally diverse population. The Multicultural Council of 
Saskatchewan (MCoS) provides workshops, presentations, 
training, and lunch and learn educational sessions for 
organizations and sectors across Saskatchewan.

The workshops are designed to equip participants 
with skills and practical ways to remove barriers. 
The workshops are customized based on the learning 
objectives of the organization and audience; they are 
interactive, consisting of PowerPoint presentations, 
activities, audio-visuals, and group discussions.

MCoS has Intercultural Facilitators trained to provide 
sessions on five modules addressing intercultural relations. 
When you contact us, MCoS will designate an appropriate 
facilitator for you based on your needs. The Education 
Coordinator and Facilitator will collaborate with you 
to customize a workshop designed for your audience. 
Our modules are each designed for a full-day workshop; 
however, we work with the duration provided and tailor to 
your request.

Module 1: Intercultural Competence 
and communication  

We explore our cultural identity, where we are on the 
intercultural development continuum, stereotypes 
and generalizations, cultural dimensions. We will offer 
strategies for enhancing curiosity and responding 
to differences.

Module 2: Cross-Cultural engagement in 
the community  

Intercultural work should involve Indigenous groups, 
established immigrants, newcomers, youth and those who 
do not see themselves belonging in these groups. The five 
areas for promising practices for intercultural relations: 
relevance and impact, diverse engagement and dialogue, 
youth engagement, integration and relationship building 
provide a framework. 
 
Module 3: Diversity in the workplace  

This module examines two key characteristics of engaging 
and respectful workplaces.

Section one includes a review of diversity in Saskatchewan 
and its positive impact on innovation and trade. We 

look at elements of culture that help and hinder 
our understanding of each other in the workplace. 
Participants explore concepts such as identity, cultural 
orientation, and types of inclusion.

In section two, we examine organizational responses to 
growing diversity with a closer look at human resources 
(recruitment, hiring, mentoring/coaching, team building, 
social effects, performance review, and promotion) and 
measuring organizational diversity.
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Module 4: Embracing diversity beyond 
the surface  

We familiarize participants with the iceberg model of 
culture, the five streams of multicultural work, and the 
diversity lens for planning.

Organizations build capacity to be welcoming, respectful, 
equitable, and engaging.

Module 5: Recognize and reject racism  

Racism is about power. It seeks to give privileges to 
some, and to oppress others. We explore the forms of 
racism, cultural, institutional/systemic, individual/
interpersonal, and internalized racism. We discuss the 
residential school legacy, sexism, heterosexism, and 
religious bigotry. We look at stereotyping, generalizations, 
perceptions and biases, and how to respond to differences 
and overcome discrimination.

Consultation  

The Executive Director offers consultations to develop 
diversity strategies using a diversity lens for organizations.

Welcoming and Inclusive Communities 
(WIC) Toolkit  

We have created a user-friendly Welcoming and Inclusive 
Communities (WIC) Toolkit embedded with a concrete 
implementation plan. The toolkit is available in English 
and French to download http://mcos.ca/welcoming-and-
inclusive-communities-toolkit/.

Contact us for bookings 

To learn how we can help you become knowledgeable 
about diversity to strengthen and enrich your 
organization: 
1. Visit the Education Services page at:  

http://mcos.ca/education
2. Contact: Yordanos Tesfamariam, MCoS Education 

Coordinator - Email: education@mcos.ca or Phone: at 
306-721-6269

3. Complete workshop request form at:  
http://mcos.ca/request-for-educational-services  

Rates are standardized. We make provisions for members, 
non-profit organizations and schools. You can view the 
rates on our website. Rates are subject to change.
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MCoS 2019-20 Funding Deadlines
Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan 
452 Albert Street North, Regina SK S4R 3C1 
P: (306) 721-6267 | F: (306) 721-3342 
E: mcos@mcos.ca |  www.mcos.ca 

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is committed to promoting, 
fostering, improving and developing multiculturalism in the cultural, 
economic, social and political life of Saskatchewan while working to 
achieve equality of all residents. MCoS is supported by Saskatchewan 
Lotteries through SaskCulture. 

 

 

 

MCoS FUNDING 
We strategically invest in member organizations and schools to carry out projects that work towards our 
mission, aims and objectives and that demonstrate the five streams of multicultural work. We look for 

applications that clearly demonstrate a connection between the activities and the impact they have on the 
objectives, with an evaluation plan to measure the achievement of those objectives. 

 
MISSION 

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is committed to promoting, fostering,  
improving and developing multiculturalism in the economic, cultural and political life of  

Saskatchewan while working to achieve equality of all residents. 
 

STREAMS OF MULTICULTURAL WORK 
The multicultural streams flow from the multicultural values. These streams represent the main  

areas of work in multiculturalism and are the focus of MCoS programs and support. 
 

Cultural Continuity empowers ethnocultural organizations, individuals and communities to 
retain, maintain and evolve distinctive cultural practices and traditions in the Canadian context. 
Celebration of Diversity includes education and festivals that showcase differences and 
similarities, most often through performance, cuisine and other arts. It includes an awareness that 
groups that include many perspectives, especially from different cultural worldviews, lead to greater 
creativity and innovation. 
Anti-Racism work looks at issues of power and privilege and how they impact individual and  
systemic discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to build equity and justice in our institutions  
and communities. 
Intercultural Connections entails different cultural groups coming together over time to build 
bridges i.e. exchanges, pen pals, cooperative work, creating safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc. 
Integration, in contrast to assimilation, is achieved when all members of a community are reflected,                  
are seen and see themselves as belonging for all aspects of their identities, are valued for their  
contributions, and are able to appropriately access services. 
  

CURRENT PROGRAMS: 

  

Visit www.mcos.ca to fill the online form or downloadable form. To inquire or apply, please contact our  
Executive Director, Rhonda Rosenberg, at exec@mcos.ca. 

Name of Program  Who Can Apply  Maximum 
amount  

Deadline  Approx. # of 
grants per year  

Strategic Initiatives (including 
Festivals) 

Non-Profit Members $3,000 September 16, 2019 
February 17, 2020 

15 per year 

Regional Multicultural 
Councils 

Organizations that serve a district 
in all five streams 

$3,000  September 16, 2019 
February 17, 2020 

6 per year 

Multicultural Education 
Initiatives (MEI)  

Schools/school divisions serving 
Pre-K to 12 

$400 October 31, 2019 50 per year 

Sponsorship MCoS sponsors activities that promote our mission, aims and objectives while offering 
opportunities to raise our public profile in a positive manner.  Any non-profit organization 
that is a member of MCoS can apply at any time. 

TO APPLY

Visit mcos.ca to fill the online form or downloadable form. 

To inquire or apply, please contact our Executive Director, Rhonda Rosenberg, at exec@mcos.ca.

Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan 
452 Albert Street North, Regina SK S4R 3C1 
P: (306) 721-6267 | F: (306) 721-3342 
E: mcos@mcos.ca |  www.mcos.ca 

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is committed to promoting, 
fostering, improving and developing multiculturalism in the cultural, 
economic, social and political life of Saskatchewan while working to 
achieve equality of all residents. MCoS is supported by Saskatchewan 
Lotteries through SaskCulture. 

 

 

 

MCoS FUNDING 
We strategically invest in member organizations and schools to carry out projects that work towards our 
mission, aims and objectives and that demonstrate the five streams of multicultural work. We look for 

applications that clearly demonstrate a connection between the activities and the impact they have on the 
objectives, with an evaluation plan to measure the achievement of those objectives. 

 
MISSION 

The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan is committed to promoting, fostering, improving and developing 
multiculturalism in the economic, cultural and political life of Saskatchewan while working 

to achieve equality of all residents. 
 

STREAMS OF MULTICULTURAL WORK 
The multicultural streams flow from the multicultural values. These streams represent the main areas of work in 

multiculturalism and are the focus of MCoS programs and support. 
Cultural Continuity empowers ethnocultural organizations, individuals and communities to 
retain, maintain and evolve distinctive cultural practices and traditions in the Canadian context. 
Celebration of Diversity includes education and festivals that showcase differences and 
similarities, most often through performance, cuisine and other arts. It includes an awareness that 
groups that include many perspectives, especially from different cultural world views, lead to greater 
creativity and innovation. 
Anti-Racism work looks at issues of power and privilege and how they impact individual and systemic 
discrimination; it usually includes active dialogue to build equity and justice in our institutions and 
communities. 
Intercultural Connections entails different cultural groups coming together over time to build 
bridges i.e. exchanges, pen pals, cooperative work, creating safe spaces, dialogue, creative projects, etc. 
Integration supports welcoming and inclusive communities that create a sense of home and 
belonging. We recognize the creativity and innovation that arise from bringing different cultural 
perspectives together and cultivating the unique contributions of all. 

 

CURRENT PROGRAMS: 

  

Visit www.mcos.ca to fill the online form or downloadable form. To inquire or apply, please contact our  
Executive Director, Rhonda Rosenberg, at exec@mcos.ca. 

Name of Program  Who Can Apply  Maximum 
amount  

Deadline  Approx. # of 
grants per year  

Strategic Initiatives (including 
Festivals) 

Non-Profit Members $3,000 September 16, 2019 
February 17, 2020 

15 per year 

Regional Multicultural 
Councils 

Organizations that serve a district 
in all five streams 

$3,000  September 16, 2019 
February 17, 2020 

6 per year 

Multicultural Education 
Initiatives (MEI)  

Schools/school divisions serving 
Pre-K to 12 

$400 October 31, 2019 50 per year 

Sponsorship MCoS sponsors activities that promote our mission, aims and objectives while offering 
opportunities to raise our public profile in a positive manner.  Any non-profit organization 
that is a member of MCoS can apply at any time. 

http://mcos.ca
mailto:exec%40mcos.ca?subject=Re%3A%20MCoS%20Funding
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Thank you to our Funders

F U N D I N G  P R O V I D E D  B Y
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I am honoured to present the 2018-19 audited financial 
statements. The financial statements show sound financial 
management and the auditor’s qualified opinion is 
that the financial statements are accurate and reflect 
the true financial position of the Multicultural Council 
of Saskatchewan. They show MCoS’ commitment to 
collaborating with stakeholders to achieve our mission 
and vision that multiculturalism is central to life in 
Saskatchewan. This annual report features success 
stories that demonstrate our investment in activities and 
programs that deliver on the Ends.

The reason there is a qualified opinion this year relates 
to verifying that there has not been more revenue than 
recorded, specifically for partnership contributions. The 
auditor points out that there neither is a mechanism 
to verify that the partnership contributions we receive 
reflect all of them, nor are two people always available 
to receive payments. We have discussed the creation of 
a process to improve this for the future. We will create 
a web page that indicates annual partners with links to 
partner websites; MCoS will inform the auditor where to 
look and which partners contributed money to projects.

Financial statement highlights include: 

• We ended the year with a surplus. We transferred 
$10,000 to the reserve, fulfilling the annual 
financial objective for long-term sustainability. The 
organizational reserve is to be used in the event of a 
drastic reduction of funding or other emergent event. 
These funds must come from self-generated revenue, 
so that grants can be used for specific program 
purposes. Sources include Multifaith Calendar sales, 
education revenue, registrations, memberships and 
donations. 

• We generated interest by putting both reserve savings 
and short-term operational savings into GICs. 

• MCoS paid out the ED for unused vacation and time 
in lieu that show as a clearing of liabilities from the 
previous year. 

• We were able to invest additional funds in member 
strategic initiative projects as a result of frugal 
choices in other areas. 

We are grateful to SaskCulture and Saskatchewan 
Lotteries for the Annual Global Funding. It is a sustainable 
source of operational revenue. The Lotteries Trust Fund 
supports over 12,000 sport, culture and recreation 
organizations across Saskatchewan. We have provided 
lottery tickets to all those present at the AGM to show 
gratitude and to encourage your support of the lotteries.

We are appreciative to both the Ministry of Education 
and Parks, Culture and Sport for their contributions to 
anti-racism youth leadership workshops, Saskatchewan 
Multicultural Week and the March 21 campaign. Through 
the Allocations Committee, Multicultural Education 
Initiatives Committee, and sponsorships, we continue 
investing in activities and projects that fulfil MCoS 
Ends. MCoS continues to work with organizations that 
receive funding, ensuring that they effectively advance 
multicultural work and values, while reporting in a way 
that demonstrates the contribution. 

We have found that the process MWC Chartered 
Professional Accountants uses invites us to 
continuously improve our processes, as we implement 
recommendations each year. We, therefore, recommend 
that they serve as our auditors again for 2019-20.  
 
We are indebted to the Administration Centre for Sport, 
Culture and Recreation who support our tracking, 
monitoring and reporting of financial transactions. We 
thank our members who have supported our financial 
efforts and our aim of promoting MCoS’ multicultural 
values through purchases of Multifaith Calendars, 
promotional items, donations, and buying lottery tickets 
and encouraging others to do the same in order to support 
the cultural, sport and recreation sectors

Treasurer’s 
Message

Bob Lesperance, Treasurer
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Audited Financial  
Statements 2018-19
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Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc.

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc. (the Council),
which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2019, and the statements of
operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion
section of our report, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Council as at March 31, 2019 and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the Council is unable to economically implement
controls that will offer assurance on the completeness of partnership contributions and we are unable to
satisfy ourselves on amounts reported using other procedures.  Accordingly, our verification of these
revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in the records of the Council and we were not able to
determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to these revenues, excess of revenues
(expenses) and cash flows from operations for the years ended March 31, 2019 or 2018, current assets
and net assets as at March 31, 2019 and 2018. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Council in accordance with
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Council's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Council or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

(continues)
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc. (continued)

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Council's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Council’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Council to cease to continue as
a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Regina, Saskatchewan
May 28, 2019  

MWC Chartered Professional Accountants LLP 3
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Statement of Revenues 
and Expenditures

MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Statement of Operations

Year Ended March 31, 2019

General
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2019 2018

GRANTS, SPONSORSHIPS,
AND DONATIONS
Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust

Fund $ 504,000 $ - $ 504,000 $ 494,000
Government of Canada 57,394 - 57,394 159,250
Sponsorships 14,500 - 14,500 500
Government of Saskatchewan 11,969 - 11,969 17,500
Foundation grant 300 - 300 3,200
Donations 185 - 185 6,697

588,348 - 588,348 681,147

SELF-GENERATED  
Education services 20,352 - 20,352 15,981
Partnership contributions 10,962 - 10,962 16,500
Sales 9,697 - 9,697 9,020
Memberships 3,810 - 3,810 4,010
Other 1,921 - 1,921 1,387
Interest income 281 384 665 32

47,023 384 47,407 46,930

635,371 384 635,755 728,077

EXPENSES
Administration (Schedule 1) 329,752 - 329,752 343,629
Corporate business (Schedule

2) 9,628 - 9,628 9,333
Meetings (Schedule 3) 22,565 - 22,565 28,413
Programs and services

(Schedule 4) 213,554 39 213,593 288,791
Public relations and

communication (Schedule
5) 40,558 - 40,558 38,963

616,057 39 616,096 709,129

EXCESS OF REVENUES
(EXPENSES) $ 19,314 $ 345 $ 19,659 $ 18,948

See notes to financial statements
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Statement of Changes in 
Net AssetsMULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN

INC.
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Year Ended March 31, 2019

General
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2019 2018

(Note 8)

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF
YEAR $ 42,670 $ 56,265 $ 98,935 $ 79,987

Excess of revenues (expenses) 19,314 345 19,659 18,948
Transfer (10,000) 10,000 - -  

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR $ 51,984 $ 66,610
   

$ 118,594
  

$ 98,935

See notes to financial statements
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Statement of Cash Flow
MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN

INC.
Statement of Cash Flows

Year Ended March 31, 2019

2019 2018

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess revenues (expenses) $ 19,659 $ 18,948
Items not affecting cash:

Amortization of capital assets - 5,125
Reinvested earnings on investments (491) -

19,168 24,073

Changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable 11,945 (19,336)
Accounts payable 9,839 (4,213)
Deferred revenue 52,502 5,275
Prepaid expenses (6,731) 6,145
Goods and services tax recoverable 1,150 367
Wages payable (20,138) 4,503

48,567 (7,259)

Cash flow from operating activities 67,735 16,814

INVESTING ACTIVITY
Purchase of investments (150,204) -

Cash flow from (used by) investing activity (150,204) -

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW (82,469) 16,814

CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 381,831 365,017

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 299,362 $ 381,831

See notes to financial statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN

INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2019

1. PURPOSE OF THE COUNCIL  

Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan Inc. (the "Council") is a not-for-profit organization incorporated
provincially under the Non-profit Corporations Act of Saskatchewan.  As a registered charity the
Council is exempt from the payment of income tax under Section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act.

The Council serves Saskatchewan through various programs that raise awareness of the benefits of
cultural diversity and the dangers of racism.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES        

Basis of presentation

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations (ASNFPO).

Revenue recognition

The Council follows the restricted method of accounting for contributions, which includes grants,
sponsorships, and donations.

General fund restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related
expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably
assured. Other restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the applicable restricted fund in
the year they are received or receivable.

Investment income is recognized as revenue in the year in which the revenue is earned.

Self-generated activities are recognized as revenue when the services are provided. 

Net assets

a)  The General fund reports the day-to-day operations of the Council.

b)  The Internally Restricted fund is restricted by the Board of Directors to provide for the future
sustainability of the Council in the event of changes in funding.  These funds can only be used
upon approval by the Board and they have approved an annual transfer of $10,000 from any
surplus earned by the General fund in the year.

c)  The Sarkar Family Fund is externally restricted which requires the original contribution of
$6,222 be maintained in perpetuity, unless altered by mutual agreement by the donor and the
Council.  The capital may be invested and any annual earnings, not used by the Council for
costs of administering the fund, are to be distributed to recognize and support activities in the
area of community reconciliation through respect and sharing.

(continues)
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Notes to Financial Statements
MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN

INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Capital assets  

Capital assets are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated amortization and are amortized
over their estimated useful lives at the following rates and methods:

Leasehold improvements 3 years straight-line method

Financial instruments   

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods,
financial assets with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and
losses reported in income. All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and tested
for impairment at each reporting date. Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial
instruments are expensed when incurred.

Financial assets including cash, investments, and accounts receivable are reported at amortized
cost.

Financial liabilities including accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured at amortized cost.

3. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE    

The Council is economically dependent on the grant revenue from the Saskatchewan Lotteries Trust
Fund (Sask Lotteries) and should this funding substantially change, management is of the opinion
that continuing operations would be significantly impacted.

4. INVESTMENTS        

2019 2018

General Fund
Term deposit matures May 2019, interest 1.55% $ 100,282 $ -

Restricted Fund
Term deposit matures July 2020, interest at 2.30% 50,413 -

$ 150,695 $ -

5. INTERFUND BALANCES    

Interfund balances arises from temporary timing differences from the activities of the funds and for
annual transfers.  Interfund balances bear no interest and have no set repayment terms.

MWC Chartered Professional Accountants LLP 9
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Notes to Financial StatementsMULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2019

6. CAPITAL ASSETS         

2019 2018
Accumulated Net book Net book

Cost amortization value value

Leasehold improvements $ 15,375 $ 15,375 $ - $ -

7. DEFERRED REVENUE            

2019 2018

Sask Lotteries - annual funding advance $ 242,000 $ 242,000
Government of Canada - program funding 51,102 -
Sponsorship 1,500 -
Memberships 425 525

$ 295,027 $ 242,525

8. RESTRICTED FUNDS        

Internally
Restricted

Fund

Sarkar
Family
Fund 2019 2018

Net assets - beginning of year $ 50,043 $ 6,222 $ 56,265 $ 40,010
Excess revenue (expenses) 384 (39) 345 6,255
Transfer 10,000 - 10,000 10,000

$ 60,427 $ 6,183 $ 66,610 $ 56,265

9. LEASE COMMITMENTS  

The Council has a two-year lease with respect to its premises. The lease contains renewal options
and future minimum lease payments as at March 31, 2019, are as follows:

2020 $ 24,600
2021 4,100

$ 28,700

MWC Chartered Professional Accountants LLP 10
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MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended March 31, 2019

10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS        

The Council is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and management is
responsible to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks.  The following analysis provides
information about the Council's risk exposure and concentration as of March 31, 2019.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations.  The
Council is exposed to credit risk from members and customers.  An allowance for doubtful
accounts is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific accounts,
historical trends and other information.  The Council has numerous customers and therefore there
is no concentration of credit risk.  

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.  The Council is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt of funds from
its funders, members, and customers, and for the settlement of accounts payable and
commitments.

Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the Council is not exposed to significant
other price risks arising from these financial instruments.

11. CORRESPONDING FIGURES    

The corresponding financial statement figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's
presentation.  There has been no change to previously reported total assets, liabilities, net assets,
revenues, or expenses as a result of the format reclassification.

MWC Chartered Professional Accountants LLP 11
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Schedules 1, 2 and 3MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Administration Expenses (Schedule 1)

Year Ended March 31, 2019

General
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2019 2018

Staff salaries and benefits $ 278,925 $ - $ 278,925 $ 295,569
Office 50,827 - 50,827 42,935
Amortization of capital assets - - - 5,125

$ 329,752 $ - $ 329,752 $ 343,629

Corporate Business Expenses (Schedule 2)

Year Ended March 31, 2019

General
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2019 2018

Audit and accounting services $ 8,641 $ - $ 8,641 $ 8,377
Insurance 617 - 617 585
Legal 15 - 15 15
Memberships 355 - 355 356

$ 9,628 $ - $ 9,628 $ 9,333

Meetings Expenses (Schedule 3)

Year Ended March 31, 2019

General
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2019 2018

Annual general meetings $ 8,361 $ - $ 8,361 $ 7,357
Board and staff development 3,593 - 3,593 1,872
Board meetings 6,955 - 6,955 13,835
Membership meetings 569 - 569 744
Staff travel 3,087 - 3,087 4,605

$ 22,565 $ - $ 22,565 $ 28,413

See notes to financial statements
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Schedules 4 and 5MULTICULTURAL COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
INC.

Programs and Services Expenses (Schedule 4)

Year Ended March 31, 2019

General
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2019 2018

Education initiatives $ 17,137 $ - $ 17,137 $ 10,008
Member development 3,501 - 3,501 940
Multicultural events 3,554 - 3,554 804
Intercultural connections 17,059 - 17,059 21,822
Regional multicultural councils 11,000 - 11,000 14,000
March 21 activities 51,102 - 51,102 35,269
Sask multicultural week 17,084 - 17,084 19,458
Strategic initiatives 70,000 - 70,000 35,300
Partnership projects 8,560 - 8,560 4,407
Welcoming and inclusive

communities - - - 135,951
Youth leadership activities 7,606 - 7,606 10,832
Anti-racism 6,951 39 6,990 -

$ 213,554 $ 39 $ 213,593 $ 288,791

Public Relations and Communication Expenses (Schedule 5)

Year Ended March 31, 2019

General
Fund

Restricted
Funds 2019 2018

Multifaith calendar $ 5,722 $ - $ 5,722 $ 5,951
Advertising and promotion 15,766 - 15,766 10,129
Sponsorship 17,100 - 17,100 22,000
Website and social media 1,970 - 1,970 883

$ 40,558 $ - $ 40,558 $ 38,963

See notes to financial statements
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The Multicultural Council of Saskatchewan rents the use of the boardroom located at 454 Albert Street 
North, Regina, Saskatchewan. You can request a paper form or fill it online at mcos.ca. 

 
Rental includes: 

 Member rate: $50 per day / $10 per hour ( Non-member rate is x2) 
 Boardroom that seats up to 15 people 
 Full kitchen available 
 Bathroom 
 Projector and white wall 
 Wireless connection 
 Climate control 
 Ample free parking 

The following terms and conditions apply to all board room rentals: 
 A damage deposit of $100 is required upon signing the contract. The deposit is refunded following the 

event less any cleaning or damage fees assessed. 
 The board room is available for use outside of regular office hours and weekends. 
 The Renter is responsible for any and all damage to the facilities and/or contents and fixtures. 
 The use of open flames or candles in the board room is prohibited. 
 Please do not bring alcoholic beverages inside. Smoking is not permitted inside or immediately outside 

the building. This includes all tobacco, e-cigarettes & vapes. 
 Maintain the cleanliness of the board room, returning it to the state in which it is found: garbage and 

recycling must be placed in provided bins, all dirty dishes cleaned, and chairs returned to their proper 
place around the board room table. You are welcome to use the dishwasher. 

 Thumbtacks, staples or adhesives of any kind are not permitted on any walls, doors or other painted 
surfaces anywhere in the board room. Post-it notes and flip chart pages are acceptable. 

 Keys must be returned in the mail slot after your meeting/event.  
 
For more information about our boardroom rental, email mcos@mcos.ca or call 306-721-6267. 
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Multicultural Council 
of Saskatchewan

452 Albert Street N. Regina, SK  S4R 3C1

P: (306) 721-MCoS (6267)
F: (306) 721-3342
E: mcos@mcos.ca

mcos.ca
Treaty 4 Territory and Homeland of the Métis

F U N D I N G  P R O V I D E D  B Y

AKING
    ULTICULTURALISM
          ATTER

Since
1975

mailto:mcos%40mcos.ca?subject=Re%3A%20Inquiry%20about%20MCoS
http://mcos.ca/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/multicultural-council-of-saskatchewan-mcos-?trk=top_nav_home
https://www.facebook.com/MulticulturalCouncilofSK/
https://twitter.com/MC_o_S
https://www.saskculture.ca/
https://www.instagram.com/mcos_1975/
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